

1

Turbinal bones are still one of the last frontiers of the tetrapod skull: hypotheses, challenges and perspectives

Quentin Martinez^{1,2,*}, Eli Amson², Irina Ruf^{3,4,5}, Timothy D. Smith⁶, Nelly Pirot^{7,8}, Morgane Broyon^{7,8}, Renaud Lebrun¹, Guillaume Captier^{9,10}, Cristina Gascó Martín², Gabriel Ferreira^{11,12} and Pierre-Henri Fabre^{1,13,14,15}

¹Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution (ISEM, UMR 5554 CNRS-IRD-UM), Université de Montpellier, Place E. Bataillon-CC 064 – 34095, Montpellier Cedex 5, France

²Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Stuttgart, Stuttgart DE-70191, Germany

³Abteilung Messelforschung und Mammalogie, Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut und Naturmuseum Frankfurt, Frankfurt am Main 60325, Germany

⁴Institut für Geowissenschaften, Goethe-Universität Frankfurt am Main, Frankfurt am Main 60438, Germany

⁵Research Center of Paleontology and Stratigraphy, Jilin University, Changchun 130026, China

⁶School of Physical Therapy, Slippery Rock University, Slippery Rock, PA 16057, USA

⁷BioCampus Montpellier (BCM), Université de Montpellier, CNRS, INSERM, Montpellier 34090, France

⁸Institut de Recherche en Cancérologie de Montpellier (IRCM), Université de Montpellier, Institut du Cancer de Montpellier (ICM), INSERM, Montpellier 34298, France

⁹Laboratoire d'anatomie, UFR médecine, Université Montpellier, Montpellier 34060, France

¹⁰Département chirurgie pédiatrique, CHU Montpellier, université Montpellier, Montpellier 34295, France

- ¹¹Senckenberg Centre for Human Evolution and Palaeoenvironment at the Eberhard Karls University of Tübingen, Tübingen 727074, Germany
- ¹²Department of Geosciences, Faculty of Sciences, Eberhard Karls University of Tübingen, Tübingen 727074, Germany
- ¹³Mammal Section, Department of Life Sciences, The Natural History Museum, London, SW7 5DB, UK

¹⁴Institut Universitaire de France (IUF), Paris 75231, France

¹⁵Division of Vertebrate Zoology (Mammalogy), American Museum of Natural History, Central Park West, 79th St, New York, NY 10024-5192, USA

ABSTRACT

Turbinals are bony or cartilaginous structures that are present in the nasal cavity of most tetrapods. They are involved in key functions such as olfaction, heat, and moisture conservation, as well as protection of the respiratory tract. Despite recent studies that challenged long-standing hypotheses about their physiological and genomic correlation, turbinals remain largely unexplored, particularly for non-mammalian species. Herein, we review and synthesise the current knowledge of turbinals using an integrative approach that includes comparative anatomy, physiology, histology and genomics. In addition, we provide synonyms and correspondences of tetrapod turbinals from about 80 publications. This work represents a first step towards drawing hypotheses of homology for the whole clade, and provides a strong basis to develop new research avenues.

Key words: turbinate, olfaction, heat conservation, moisture conservation, respiratory tract.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	a		 	•	 						 	•	 	•	 •			 •	 					 •	 	•	 2
II.	Mammals			 		 						 	•	 						 					 	 		 4

^{*} Author for correspondence (E-mail: quentinmartinezphoto@gmail.com).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

Ouentin Martinez and others

	(1) Development of nasal structures in mammals	. 6
	(2) Two functional categories	. 9
	(3) Respiratory turbinals	. 9
	(a) Margino- and atrioturbinal	. 14
	(\vec{b}) Maxilloturbinal	. 14
	(c) Nasoturbinal	. 15
	(4) Olfactory turbinals	15
	(a) Semicircular lamina	. 15
	(\dot{b}) Frontoturbinals	. 16
	(c) Ethmoturbinals	. 16
	(d) Interturbinals	. 16
	(5) Other terminologies	. 17
	(6) Selective pressures affecting turbinals	. 17
	(a) Phylogeny	. 17
	(b) Ecology and olfactory turbinals	. 18
	(c) Ecology and respiratory turbinals	. 20
III.	Non-avian dinosaurs and birds	.21
IV.	Crocodilians	.23
V.	Turtles	.23
VI.	Lepidosauria (snakes, lizards and kin)	.24
	(1) Squamata	. 24
	(2) Rhynchocephalia	. 25
VII.	Lissamphibia (extant amphibians)	.25
	(1) Anura	. 25
	(2) Caudata (= Urodela)	. 25
	(3) Gymnophiona	. 26
VIII.	Quantitative approaches and methodological issues	.26
IX.	Future directions	.27
Х.	Conclusions	. 28
XI.	Acknowledgements	.29
XII.	References	.29
XIII.	Supporting information	. 34

I. INTRODUCTION

V

X X

Turbinals (also named turbinates, conchae, turbinares, turbines, turbinaux, tubercles, ethmoidal labyrinth, cornets, scroll bones, and lateral mass) (e.g. Negus, 1958; Portmann, 1961; Bang, 1965; Roper, 1999) are bony or cartilaginous structures involved in olfaction, heat, and moisture conservation, as well as protection of the respiratory tract (Figs 1-3; Negus, 1958; Morgan & Monticello, 1990; Harkema, Carey & Wagner, 2006). The earliest studies on turbinal anatomy are most likely anatomical contributions for humans (Homo sapiens), in which turbinals were named conchae (e.g. Bourgery & Jacob, 1831). During recent decades, turbinals have been rather neglected in comparison to studies of other parts of the skull (Rowe et al., 2005). Turbinals are thin, perforated and scrolled bony or cartilaginous plates (Figs 4-8) that are fragile and difficult to extract from the skull. Early anatomists visualised these structures using tedious protocols such as cross-sectioning skulls, elaborate transparency projections, cardboard models, wax plate reconstructions and different types of casts (Born, 1883; Voit, 1909; Watson, 1913; Dawes, 1952; Negus, 1958; Folkow, Blix & Eide, 1988; Morgan & Monticello, 1990). In this context, the works of Simon Paulli, Sir Victor Negus,

Betsy G. Bang, and Thomas S. Parsons (Paulli, 1900a,b,c; Negus, 1958; Parsons, 1967; Bang, 1971) became landmark studies in this field.

Invented in the early 1980s, high-resolution X-ray microcomputed tomography (micro-CT, μ CT) was at first extremely expensive and limited to exceptional projects. Improvements and popularisation of this tool subsequently resulted in a significant cost reduction. Micro-CT completely revolutionised the sensory ecology field in general, and that of turbinal anatomy in particular. In a context where biodiversity is drastically decreasing, museum specimens are becoming extremely valuable. Micro-CT, which is nondestructive, enables acquiring data from rare specimens, holotypes or specimens from extinct or endangered species. One of the first studies on turbinals that used CT was Ruben et al. (1996) who investigated respiratory turbinals in birds, crocodilians, and non-avian theropods. Since then, the number of CT studies related to turbinals has significantly increased.

The nasal cavity (and therefore turbinals) is probably still one of the least studied regions of the tetrapod skull despite its key functional role (Rowe et al., 2005; Smith, Eiting & Rossie, 2011). Van Valkenburgh and her team developed quantitative analyses based on turbinal data, acquired



Fig. 1. Variation in turbinals across tetrapods. Sagittal views of the skull or the head of the 13 tetrapod species discussed in this review with three-dimensional segmentation of the left turbinals. Colour coding represents turbinal homology, see later figures for detailed illustrations.

through micro-CT (e.g. Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2004, 2011, 2014; Green *et al.*, 2012). One of the biggest challenges is now the time required to process the data, particularly for segmentation (= isolation of an area or structures of interest). In mammals, segmentation time to extract all turbinals from one side can range from half a day to several days. This process is longer for micro-CT images with background noise (= an artifactual grainy texture), fossils, or for species with highly complex turbinals (e.g. amphibious mammals) as semi-automatic segmentation tools may not be applicable. In the next few years, semi-automated segmentation as well as deep-learning technology may considerably reduce segmentation time (e.g. Cardona *et al.*, 2010; Lösel *et al.*, 2020, 2023; Herbst *et al.*, 2021).

The number of studies related to mammalian turbinals is growing rapidly. However, studies on other tetrapods (e.g. birds or lizards), where most of their turbinals are cartilaginous and therefore not visible with micro-CT, remain rare. The recent development of staining methods [e.g. Lugol's iodine, phosphotungstic acid (PTA), and phosphomolybdic acid (PMA)] provide methodological avenues to explore this field further by enabling the contrast enhancement of soft tissue and therefore making them visible in micro-CT (Metscher, 2009; Pauwels *et al.*, 2013; Gignac *et al.*, 2016; Gabner *et al.*, 2020).

Here we review the current knowledge on turbinals from various fields and with new, standardised anatomical plates, in order to provide a strong morphological, functional, evolutionary and developmental basis for future studies. Because



Fig. 2. Mouse (*Mus musculus domesticus*) olfactory system, showing position of the olfactory turbinals. Modified after Kaluza *et al.* (2004), Storan & Key (2006), Roppolo *et al.* (2006), Ekberg *et al.* (2011) and Salazar & Sánchez-Quinteiro (2011).



Fig. 3. Mouse (*Mus musculus domesticus*) respiratory turbinals, with blue shading showing the principle of heat and moisture conservation along the upper respiratory tract. Heat transfer is the result of convection, whereas water transfer is driven by evaporation and condensation. In this example, the performance of the respiratory tract allows conservation of 15 °C and 40% of humidity at expiration. Modified after Walker & Wells (1961), Jackson & Schmidt- Nielsen (1964) and Collins *et al.* (1971).

most turbinal-related works have been performed in mammals, we focus the first part of this review on this clade as a reference, and then consider other tetrapods.

II. MAMMALS

Among extant tetrapods, mammals have relatively the largest and most complex turbinals (e.g. Negus, 1958; Parsons, 1971*a*). Despite a great number of morphological studies on prenatal stages of almost all mammalian orders (e.g. Fischer, 1901; Voit, 1909; Fawcett, 1921; Starck, 1960), postnatal and especially adult stages are significantly underrepresented. This is due to several reasons, such as a focus on the so-called 'stadium optimum', in placentals corresponding to fetal stages with a fully developed chondrocranium, but also to technical limitations as histological techniques are limited by ossification in older stages or simply by size (Maier & Ruf, 2014). These barriers now can be mostly overcome by CT technologies (e.g. Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011, 2014; Macrini, 2012;



Fig. 4. (Top) Sagittal view of the skull of a mouse [*Mus musculus domesticus*, wild individual from Monastir, Tunisia, Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution de Montpellier (ISEM) K7503] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Five coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Quentin Martinez (MorphoSource ID number 000523925).



Fig. 5. Coronal sections of the turbinals of a mouse (*Mus musculus domesticus*) along the nasal cavity visualised using different approaches: classical micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) scan (1, 6), iodine-stained micro-CT scan (diceCT; 2, 7), haematoxylin-eosin-saffron (HES) stained histology (3, 8), photograph of fresh sections (4, 9), and scanning electron microscope (SEM) image with 5 nm gold–palladium coating (5, 10). The top and bottom views approximately correspond to sections (1) and (4) in Fig. 4, respectively.

Ruf, Janßen & Zeller, 2015; Smith *et al.*, 2016; Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020, 2023*a*,*b*; Wagner & Ruf, 2019; Ruf, 2020; Ito *et al.*, 2021, 2022; Smith & Bonar, 2022), although large species of Afrotheria, Carnivora, Artiodatcyla or Perissodactyla have still not been the focus of detailed morphological analyses

of the turbinal complex. Thus, the homology of turbinals remains unclear in several species and groundplan reconstructions of specific clades are still pending. Issues with turbinal homology are mainly associated with the olfactory turbinals (= fronto-, ethmo-, and interturbinals; e.g. Fig. 4), where an

5



Fig. 6. Details of histological sections [haematoxylin-eosin-saffron (HES) stain] of the nasoturbinal (respiratory turbinal) and interturbinal (olfactory turbinal) of a mouse (*Mus musculus domesticus*, WLA Toulouse inbred line derived from wild population) showing the differences between respiratory and olfactory epithelium. 1 and 5 approximately correspond to sections (1) and (4) in Fig. 4, respectively.

increase in turbinal complexity may involve a greater number of small and potentially independently developing lamellae. Even in rodents, homology of olfactory turbinals is sometimes unclear, with the number of some frontoturbinals ranging from 0 to 3 (Fig. 4; Martinez et al., 2020; Ruf, 2020; Smith & Bonar, 2022). In light of variations in the shape, location, and number of these frontoturbinals, developmental studies must be carried out to derive hypotheses of homology that can be used within a phylogenetic framework (Ruf, 2020; Macrini et al., 2023). Similarly, it is difficult to distinguish between interturbinals, which are sometimes present, and the lamellae of the other olfactory turbinals (Rowe et al., 2005). This is especially true for species with highly complex olfactory turbinal bones such as armadillos, elephants or tapirs (e.g. Paulli, 1900b; Hautier et al., 2019; Martinez et al., 2024b). In some cases, examination of young individuals is sufficient because the complexity and number of turbinals does not change during postnatal ontogeny (Ruf, 2020; Ito et al., 2021, 2022). However, precise developmental studies remain necessary in most cases. To date, comprehensive and comparative developmental studies are rare and limited to certain species and families (Smith & Rossie, 2008; Smith et al., 2016, 2021c; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Ito et al., 2021, 2022; Wagner & Ruf, 2021), and additional developmental studies will be necessary to test hypotheses of turbinal homology (Maier & Ruf, 2014).

(1) Development of nasal structures in mammals

A thorough discussion of nasal capsule development is beyond the scope of this review, but certain developmental relationships are critical to understanding homology. During development in mammals, turbinals emerge from the cartilaginous nasal capsule, the most rostral element of the chondrocranium (Maier, 1980, 1993; Zeller, 1987; Rowe et al., 2005). The nasal capsule is the source of the ethmoid bone, a shared skeletal element of the basicranium and facial skeleton, and a number of cartilages (e.g. septal, alar). During the early developmental stages, the nasal capsule has three initially independent mesenchymal condensations, which become centres of chondrification (Fig. 9; Reinbach, 1952b; Maier, 1993; Smith & Rossie, 2008; Maier & Ruf, 2014; Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Ruf, 2020). These chondrification centres, also referred to as pars, are specifically designated here as centres of chondrification (Fig. 9) to prevent potential confusion with the distinct lamellae of the ethmoturbinal I (see Section II.4.*c*). The anterior centre gives rise to cartilages that extend the furthest rostrally, such as the marginoturbinal and atrioturbinal if present (Maier, 2020), and two lamellae that project posteriorly, the maxilloturbinal and the semicircular lamina. Most olfactory turbinals develop from the middle (= intermedia) and posterior chondrifications centres. The middle centre houses the frontoturbinals, and the posterior centre gives rise to the ethmoturbinals. Each of these may have smaller turbinals called interturbinals and which are nested between larger turbinals. These form later than the larger turbinals, and do not extend as far medially.

The three parts of the nasal capsule eventually fuse into a tent-like housing for the developing nasal cavity, with openings rostrally and caudally (anterior and posterior nares), and openings for olfactory nerves caudally and dorsally;



Fig. 7. Scanning electron micrographs showing details of the nasoturbinal and interturbinal of a mouse (*Mus musculus domesticus*, WLA Toulouse inbred line derived from wild population) showing venous sinuses, olfactory nerves and olfactory receptor cells. Images 1 approximately corresponds to section (1), and images 5 and 9 to section (4) in Fig. 4, respectively.

ventrally the capsule has an incomplete floor (Fawcett, 1918, 1919, 1921; De Beer, 1937). Once the nasal capsule is fully formed, the degree to which the three parts overlap creates complex recesses that eventually convey airflow at different velocities. The posterior part of the capsule ends in a *cul-de-sac*, the ethmoturbinal (= olfactory) recess, which is spatially separated from nasopharyngeal passageways, and is dedicated to olfaction in most mammals, as are the ethmoturbinals and interturbinals within it. The posterior transversal lamina (= lamina transversalis posterior) of the nasal capsule forms the floor of the ethmoturbinal recess, the paries nasi form the sidewalls, the lamina cribrosa and lamina infracribrosa form the roof and the cupula nasi posterior is the blind end of the nasal cavity (Maier & Ruf, 2014; Ruf, 2020).

During ontogeny, the anterior chondrification centre become mostly resorbed, although some parts remain cartilaginous (e.g. external nasal cartilages, atrioturbinal), whereas the inferior part separates in mammals and becomes the ossified maxilloturbinal. Large parts of the middle and posterior chondrification centres ossify. The posterior transversal lamina fuses with the vomer in many species (= lamina terminalis); the lamina cribrosa ossifies as well and becomes part of the ethmoid bone (Ruf, 2020; Smith, Ruf & DeLeon, 2023). Individual turbinals ossify in mammals (e.g. frontoturbinals, ethmoturbinals). Parts of the side-wall (paries nasi) may ossify into parts of the orbital wall.

Overlap of the tripartite nasal capsule occurs where the first ethmoturbinal of the posterior chondrification centre juts forward medial to the middle chondrification centre; this turbinal can project so far into the anterior chondrification centre that it overlaps the maxilloturbinal (Smith, Rossie & Bhatnagar, 2007b). Similarly, the semicircular lamina of the anterior chondrification centre projects posteriorly; in some species it becomes so large that the middle chondrification centre is not visible from the medial perspective (De Beer, 1937; Maier, 1993; Smith & Rossie, 2008). The entire space that is lateral to the semicircular lamina and ethmoturbinal I is termed the lateral recess. The lateral recess is subdivided by the horizontal lamina into a superior frontoturbinal recess (housing the frontoturbinals and interturbinals, if present)

Quentin Martinez and others



Fig. 8. Details of the nasoturbinal and interturbinal of a mouse [*Mus musculus domesticus*, WLA Toulouse inbred line derived from wild population, Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution de Montpellier – Quentin Martinez (ISEM-QM)1796] imaged with iodine-stained micro-computed tomography (diceCT) showing the difference in epithelial thickness between the respiratory and olfactory areas. The bracketed tissue from the panel 4 can also be called olfactory mucosa, as it includes olfactory epihtelium as well as glandular tissue just deep to it. Panels 1 and 2 approximately correspond to sections (1) and (4) in Fig. 4, respectively. Raw micro-CT data from Quentin Martinez (Morphosource ID number 000524240).



Fig. 9. Development of the mammalian nasal capsule, organised into three regions named pars (adapted from Smith & Rossie, 2008). Turbinals are derived from these specific parts and are coloured accordingly. Bottom right image is a sagittal view of the skull of an adult mouse with three-dimensional illustration of positions of segmented turbinals similarly colour coded. etI pa, ethmoturbinal I pars anterior; etI pp, ethmoturbinal I pars posterior; etII, ethmoturbinal II; etIII, ethmoturbinal III; ft1, frontoturbinal 1; it, interturbinal; mt, maxilloturbinal; nt, nasoturbinal; sl, semicircular lamina.

and inferior maxillary recess (which may pneumatised further into the maxillary bone to form the maxillary sinus); in many mammals, there is a more anterior extension of the lateral recess that is not subdivided, but communicates posteriorly with the frontoturbinal and maxillary recesses. The frontoturbinal recess is an olfactory space, which contains the frontoturbinals and interturbinals, if present. The midline nasal septum divides the nasal cavity into two halves (= fossae; Fig. 4). This structure arises early in ontogeny (from neural crest cells) and remains mostly cartilaginous throughout life (Rowe *et al.*, 2005; Ruf, 2020). The posterior part, which will be ossified in adult stages, is named the mesethmoid (Rowe *et al.*, 2005). Mediolaterally, turbinals are symmetric and with occasional exceptions, intra-individual variation is rare (Rowe et al., 2005; Macrini, 2012; Martinez et al., 2018, 2020; Ruf, 2020).

These developmental relationships of turbinals with primordial parts of the nasal capsule form the basis for discussion of homology (e.g. Maier, 1993; Smith & Rossie, 2008), as well as an understanding of variations by which turbinal numbers are increased or decreased in various taxa. Indeed, some mammals have far more turbinals than most, and others have apparently lost turbinals that were ancestrally present. Supernumerary or lost turbinals create confusion for several reasons. Turbinals develop as serial homologues, and also in a temporal sequence. For example, the maxilloturbinal and first ethmoturbinal undergo mesenchymal condensation prior to more caudal ethmoturbinals and frontoturbinals, and chondrify

before the most posterior ethmoturbinal even forms a mesenchymal condensation (Zeller, 1987; Smith & Rossie, 2008; Smith et al., 2021c). Interturbinals undergo mesenchymal condensation after the ethmoturbinals and the lateral wall have chondrified. In light of this, a question arises about taxa with the most turbinals (e.g. carnivorans): do new ethmoturbinals arise in an iterative caudal direction, or do they form between existing turbinals? Related to this, Macrini (2014, p. 2008) wrote that 'with the current state of knowledge it is not possible to homologise individual endoturbinals or ectoturbinals' (his term for ethmoturbinals and frontoturbinals, respectively). However, Macrini (2014) was able to identify a fascinating developmental history of the third ethmoturbinal (he used 'endoturbinal') of some adult marsupials. In a series of pouchlings (broadly equivalent to fetal stages of placental mammals), this turbinal first appears as an interturbinal between two ethmoturbinals, and subsequently grows to a position adjacent to the septum (i.e. as is the case for the other ethmoturbinals). Macrini (2014) advocated that this turbinal should bear the name 'interturbinal' in the adult, to denote its developmental distinction (see also Macrini et al., 2023). However, a different implication of his finding is that interturbinals are a pool of potential ethmoturbinals. Some mammals have multiple interturbinals (e.g. Paulli, 1900a, b, c; hypothetically, accelerated growth of any interturbinal could explain supernumerary ethmoturbinals. But an alternative hypothesis could be that additional mesenchymal condensations form, perhaps through accelerated or prolonged nasal capsular development, perhaps caudal to the last ethmoturbinal in ancestral forms. Along these lines, Smith & Rossie (2008) suggested that the posterior transversal lamina of eutherian mammals (which forms the cartilaginous floor of the caudal nasal capsule) may be homologous with the last ethmoturbinal of metatherians. Unfortunately, we still lack sufficient information to homologise all ethmoturbinals. To resolve this, we require detailed study of embryonic placental mammals with the most numerous ethmoturbinals (e.g. Carnivora or Perissodactyla).

Existing collections of serially sectioned mammals or contrast-enhanced CT volumes may already hold the key to understanding which turbinals have been lost evolutionarily in taxa such as some bats or primates. Smith & DeLeon (2021) suggested that the position of the eves in embryonic and early fetal haplorhine primates (humans, apes, monkeys and tarsiers) may place constraints on the posterior part of the nasal capsule during the phase of mesenchymal condensation, reducing the overall mesenchymal pool. Bats lacking ethmoturbinals may also have a reduced mesenchymal pool; Frick's (1954) description of the nasal capsule in Myotis (which has a reduced ethmoturbinal count) implies a lack of tripartite organisation. Regardless of the basis for loss, we do not yet know whether placental mammals with three or fewer ethmoturbinals have lost the second, third or fourth ethmoturbinal. Even in humans and other anthropoids, for which we have the most data, it remains unclear whether the second ethmoturbinal (etII, or superior nasal concha) is homologous with the pars posterior of ethmoturbinal I (etI pp, see Section II.4.*c*), or ethmoturbinal II (etII) in ancestral forms.

(2) Two functional categories

Turbinal bones are generally divided into two functional categories: (i) heat and moisture conservation, and (ii) olfaction (Negus, 1958; Parsons, 1959b, 1971a; Hillenius, 1992). These categories often fit with an antero-posterior position with turbinals functionally named as respiratory and olfactory turbinals (Figs 2 and 3). These bony structures increase the surface area of the nasal cavity and are covered by a vascular system, mucus glands or olfactory epithelium (Rowe et al., 2005). However, epithelial composition varies between species. Extensive histological studies in rabbits, rats and mice (e.g. Le Gros Clark, 1951; Ressler, Sullivan & Buck, 1993; Harkema & Morgan, 1996; Harkema, Carev & Wagner, 2006; Barrios et al., 2014; Herbert et al., 2018) and in some non-model species (e.g. Negus, 1958; Maier, 1980; Smith et al., 2004; Smith, Eiting & Bhatnagar, 2012; Smith & Rossie, 2008; Eiting, Smith & Dumont, 2014a; Yee et al., 2016; Martinez et al., 2020) have enabled us to characterise the distinct functions of turbinals (some have a dual function). The number of respiratory turbinals in terrestrial mammals varies from one per side in some naked mole rat (Heterocephalus glaber) individuals (Martinez et al., 2023b) to three or four in some other rodent species (Martinez et al., 2020; Q. Martinez, personal observations). The number of olfactory turbinals in terrestrial mammals varies from one or two per side in humans to about 55 in the African bush elephant (Loxodonta africana) (Martinez et al., 2024b). Turbinals are also present in semi-aquatic and even fully aquatic mammals whereas toothed whales (odontocetes) may be the only mammals to lack turbinals (Godfrey, Geisler & Fitzgerald, 2013; Berta, Ekdale & Cranford, 2014; Ichishima, 2016) but further investigations are still needed (see Section II.6. b). In addition to the number of turbinals, their relative size and complexity vary greatly between mammalian species (Figs 4, 10-16) (e.g. Parsons, 1971a; Hillenius, 1994; Van Valkenburgh et al., 2004, 2011, 2014; Green et al., 2012; Ruf et al., 2014; Martinez et al., 2018, 2020, 2023b).

In the two following sections, we discuss turbinal anatomy from the anterior part of the nasal cavity where the respiratory turbinals are located (Fig. 3) to the posterior part where the olfactory turbinals are located (Fig. 2). For the respiratory turbinals, we discuss three different sections: (*i*) margino- and atrio-, (*ii*) maxillo-, and (*iii*) nasoturbinal. For the olfactory turbinals, we discuss four different sections: (*i*) semicircular lamina, (*ii*) fronto-, (*iii*) ethmo, and (*iv*) interturbinals.

(3) Respiratory turbinals

Respiratory turbinals are involved in heat and moisture conservation. During inhalation, the air is warmed up to body temperature due to contact with the vascularised anterior part of the respiratory turbinals. Simultaneously, the air in contact with nasal mucus is moistened (Fig. 3). During



Fig. 10. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of a human (*Homo sapiens sapiens*) with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Three coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Renaud Lebrun (MorphoMuseuM ID:https://doi.org/10. 18563/journal.m3.195).



Fig. 11. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of an Aquitanian mole [*Talpa aquitania*, Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution de Montpellier – Quentin Martinez (ISEM-QM)] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Five coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Quentin Martinez (MorphoSource ID number 000524233).



Fig. 12. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of a grey wolf [*Canis lupus*, University of Alaska Museum (UAM) 115907] with threedimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Nine coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Axel Newton (MorphoSource ID number 000165185).

subsequent exhalation, this warmed air is cooled down by the anterior portion of the respiratory turbinals that were previously cooled down by inspired air (Fig. 3). This heat

reduction will condense water within the nasal cavity and allow the expiration of drier air, conserving on average 66% of the humidity of the exhaled air (Negus, 1958; Walker &



Fig. 13. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of a Seba's short-tailed bat [*Carollia perspicillata*, Natural History Museum of London (NHMUK) 66 3432] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Five coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Quentin Martinez (MorphoSource ID number 000524234).



Fig. 14. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of tailless tenrec [*Tenrec ecaudatus*, Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution de Montpellier – Quentin Martinez (ISEM-QM-201)] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Four coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Quentin Martinez (MorphoSource ID number 000523932).

Wells, 1961; Jackson & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1964; Schmidt-Nielsen, Hainsworth & Murrish, 1970; Collins, Pilkington & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1971; Schroter & Watkins, 1989; Hillenius, 1992; Ruben et al., 1996; Hillenius & Ruben, 2004). This countercurrent heat exchange is a widespread physiological process (Jackson & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1964). In rabbits and in some rodent species,



Fig. 15. (Top) Sagittal views of the head and the soft tissues of a gray short-tailed opossum [*Monodelphis domestica*, Laboratory of Vera Weisbecker (l-vw:umelns-md11)] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Eight coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Vera Weisbecker and Alison Carlisle (MorphoSource ID number 000021415).

it has been demonstrated that during inhalation, the maxilloturbinal participates in the temperature increase of air inspired through the nasal cavity to reach body temperature (Jackson & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1964; Schmidt-Nielsen, 1969; Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1970; Caputa, 1979). Heat and water saving during exhalation varies widely among species (Schmidt-Nielsen, Schroter & Shkolnik, 1981). Interestingly, heat dissipation by the respiratory turbinals has been argued to have a role in brain cooling (Baker & Hayward, 1968; Langman et al., 1978; Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1981; Bourke et al., 2014; Owerkowicz et al., 2015). However, despite their previously demonstrated physiological role, Martinez et al. (2023b) failed to identify a significant relation between the relative surface area of one of the respiratory turbinals (the maxilloturbinal) and mammalian physiological proxies such as the corrected basal metabolic rate and body temperature.

Respiratory turbinals are involved in the protection of the lower respiratory tract and of the posterior neuroepithelium. Respiratory turbinals filter, absorb, and dispose of both macro- and microscopic particles but also volatile substances that could cause injuries (e.g. Morgan & Monticello, 1990; Harkema *et al.*, 2006). These processes are carried out by the cilia of the respiratory epithelium (see Fig. 6) and through its absorption and regeneration properties.

Finally, respiratory turbinals are involved in airflow dynamics, maintaining and redirecting the inspired airflow to specific areas such as the olfactory turbinals (e.g. Craven, Paterson & Settles, 2010; Bourke & Witmer, 2016; Pang *et al.*, 2016).

Respiratory turbinals are mostly covered by transitional and respiratory epithelium (Fig. 6). For simplification, and to differentiate from the olfactory epithelium, several authors have merged transitional with respiratory epithelium, only referring to the latter type to describe the epithelium that lines respiratory turbinals. Respiratory epithelium is composed of six cell types: ciliated columnar, non-ciliated columnar, mucous, brush, cuboidal, and basal. The relative composition of these cell types will change the properties of the respiratory epithelium in terms of mucus production, capacity to retain macro- and microscopic particles as well

13



Fig. 16. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull of a platypus [*Ornithorhynchus anatinus*, Museum of Vertebrate Zoology (MVZ) 32885] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Five coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Note the absence of ossified turbinals on the anterior part of the nasal cavity. Turbinal homology modified after Zeller (1989) but see Fig. S1 for alternative interpretations. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Carol Spencer and Edward Stanley (MorphoSource ID number 000059596).

as enzyme activities (Herbert *et al.*, 2018). The lamina propria (= most ventral part of the epithelium) of the respiratory epithelium is highly vascularised and contains many mucous glands (Figs 6 and 7). The transitional epithelium is a thin layer composed of cuboidal or low columnar cells that vary in their degree of ciliation.

(a) Margino- and atrioturbinal

In mammals, the most anterior portion of the nasal cavity houses a cartilaginous structure named the outer nasal cartilage (Maier, 2020; Ruf, 2020). This structure makes up the junction between the external nares and the nasal bones. Species with elongated rhinariums or trunks [e.g. shrews (Lipotyphla) or elephant shrews (Macroscelidea)] have a long outer nasal cartilage (Maier, 2020).

Anteriorly, two single turbinals, margino- and atrioturbinal, are fully cartilaginous at the adult stage (Fig. 15). These turbinals are formed by the anterior nasal cupula and/or the paries nasi (Voit, 1909; Reinbach, 1952*a*,*b*; Ruf *et al.*, 2015; Ruf, 2020). Due to their cartilaginous composition, these two turbinals are difficult to identify without precise histological investigation or dissection (Fig. 15). Therefore, in mammals, mentions of margino- and atrioturbinals are rare (De Beer, 1929; Reinbach, 1952*a*,*b*; Maier, 1980, 2000, 2020; Rossie & Smith, 2007; Macrini, 2012, 2014; Maier & Ruf, 2014; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Ito *et al.*, 2021), even in groups like rodents (e.g. Fawcett, 1917; Parsons, 1971*a*; Ruf, 2020). Because they are directly in contact with the exterior environment, margino- and atrioturbinals are composed of lightly keratinised and squamous epithelium that may protect the posterior epithelium (Ruf, 2014, 2020; Herbert et al., 2018). Margino- and atrioturbinals are extremely complicated to discriminate and some authors refer to the former or latter without clear homology (Ruf, 2020). Rare studies with very precise histology can differentiate between margino-, atrio-, and maxilloturbinal [e.g. Reinbach (1952a,b) in the nine-banded armadillo Dasypus novemcinctus and Ruf (2020) in rodents] in some species by the presence of an incisura while in other species there is no distinct incisura. Maier (2000) noted an absence of an atrioturbinal in cercopithecoids and therefore a gap between the margino- and maxilloturbinal. In addition to their role in heat and moisture conservation, the margino- and atrioturbinal, in concert with the cartilages of the anterior nasal cupula, may also play a role in the shape of the nostril. Finally, some links with facial muscles may imply a role in airflow direction into upper and lower components and even in the sniffing process (Hofer, 1980; Göbbel, 2000; Maier & Ruf, 2014). Given the difficulty involved in identifying these two cartilaginous turbinals even with diceCT scans (diffusible iodine-based contrastenhanced computed tomography; Fig. 15; e.g. Ito et al., 2022), they remain widely understudied.

(b) Maxilloturbinal

The maxilloturbinal is a product of the anterior chondrification centre of the nasal capsule (Fig. 9) and is located at the posterior end of the atrioturbinal if present (Maier, 2000; Ruf, 2020). The maxilloturbinal ossifies from the ventral rim of the paries nasi and is considered a separate bone in mammals (Ruf, 2020). It is thought to be the largest respiratory turbinal; however there is significant variation across mammals (Figs 4, 10–16; Martinez *et al.*, 2023*b*). Its shape can vary from a simple lamella to a single or double scroll or even a highly dendritic structure.

In some bats, recent findings suggest that the morphology and the development of a potential maxilloturbinal may be constrained by skull adaptations linked to nasophonation (= nasal echolocation) or may even participate in such emission (Curtis & Simmons, 2017; Curtis *et al.*, 2020). However, its homology to the maxilloturbinal is debated (Ito *et al.*, 2021).

(c) Nasoturbinal

The nasoturbinal is located dorsally to the maxilloturbinal and also originates from the anterior chondrification centre. In rodents, it is a distinct turbinal with no connection to other turbinals (Fig. 4). In some mammals, the nasoturbinal is connected to the lamina semicircularis that reaches into the posterior part of the olfactory recess (Fig. 14; e.g. Ruf, 2014) and in these cases some authors do not discriminate between the nasoturbinal and the lamina semicircularis [e.g. Le Gros Clark (1951) in the rabbit]. The posteromedial part of the nasoturbinal is often covered by olfactory epithelium, suggesting a dual function in respiratory and olfactory processes. However, the epithelial cover of the nasoturbinals varies greatly among species (Smith *et al.*, 2004, 2012; Smith & Rossie, 2008; Yee *et al.*, 2016; Herbert *et al.*, 2018).

Finally, the nasoturbinal has a key function in directing the anterior airflow to the posterior olfactory recess and the olfactory turbinals. In placentals, the passage of the air along the nasoturbinal results in a decreasing airflow velocity in the olfactory recess that may increase absorption and therefore the detection of volatile odorant molecules (e.g. Craven *et al.*, 2010). However, in some blind recesses shaped by turbinals, both the volatility and the sorption strength of the odorant molecules may also play a role (Mozell, Kent & Murphy, 1991).

(4) Olfactory turbinals

Olfactory turbinals are responsible for olfaction and support olfactory epithelium and neurons (Ressler *et al.*, 1993; Ressler, Sullivan & Beck, 1994; Harkema *et al.*, 2006; Barrios *et al.*, 2014; Herbert *et al.*, 2018). Olfactory turbinals chondrify and ossify antero-posteriorly, although larger turbinals in the olfactory region form prior to smaller turbinals [e.g. interturbinals (Smith & Rossie, 2008; Ruf, 2020; Smith *et al.*, 2021*c*)]. Olfactory turbinals are generally fully ossified in adult stages and contribute to the ethmoid bone (e.g. Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Ruf, 2020). The ethmoid bone comprises several sub-structures: beside all olfactory turbinals, the ossified part of the nasal septum (lamina perpendicularis), the cribriform plate, the crista galli, and to a specific extent ossified parts of the former cartilaginous nasal capsule (e.g. in muroid rodents; Ruf, 2020). It is well known that the relative size and complexity of olfactory turbinals varies significantly among species (Figs 4, 10–16; e.g. Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011; Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020); in dog breeds, the complexity but not the number (except for the interturbinals) of olfactory turbinals is related to rostrum length (Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021). Developmentally, extreme reduction is generally attributed to the merging of embryonic structures, whereas multiple turbinals may result from repetitive mesenchymal growth (Smith & Rossie, 2008; Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Smith *et al.*, 2021*e*). However, recent findings in anthropoid primates indicate that some turbinals fail to differentiate due to deficient space and mesenchyme (Smith & DeLeon, 2021).

In most mammals, these turbinals are almost completely covered by olfactory epithelium (Figs 6-8). The olfactory epithelium is pseudostratified and composed of olfactory sensory neurons, supporting cells, and basal cells (Herbert et al., 2018). At the dorsal surface of the olfactory epithelium, the olfactory vesicles of the olfactory neurons participate in increasing the surface area for the reception of odorant molecules. Olfactory neurons are ventrally extended by an axon that joins other axons and nerve fascicles (panel 8 in Fig. 7). These nerve fascicles run through the perforated cribriform plate to join glomeruli from the olfactory bulb (Fig. 2). The olfactory neurons are constantly regenerated with an estimated turnover rate of 30 days in the laboratory rat (Graziadei & Monti Graziadei, 1978). The lamina propria (= most ventral part of the epithelium) of the olfactory epithelium includes Bowman's glands (= submucosal glands; Fig. 6) which participate in moistening the olfactory epithelium and which secrete a solvent that bonds the volatile odorant molecules to the olfactory receptors. Some parts of the nasal roof, the nasal septum and the lateral wall of the olfactory recess are also covered by olfactory epithelium (Figs 6, 8; Smith et al., 2004, 2014; Rowe et al., 2005; Eiting et al., 2014a; Herbert et al., 2018; Ruf, 2020). Some 'olfactory' turbinals have a dual function of respiratory air-conditioning and olfactory sensing. These exceptions are noted below.

(a) Semicircular lamina

Because the semicircular lamina (= lamina semicircularis, sometimes called crista semicircularis in prenatal stages) is mostly covered by olfactory epithelium (Fig. 8), it is often considered functionally as an olfactory turbinal (e.g. Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020, 2023*a*; Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021). However, since at least some mammals lack olfactory mucosa on the semicircular lamina (Smith & Bonar, 2022), we currently may not fully appreciate functional variation. The semicircular lamina is part of the anterior chondrification centre and forms the anterior border of the hiatus semilunaris, the entrance into the lateral recess; its dorsal part can reach far posteriorly under the lamina cribrosa (Ruf, 2014, 2020). Here, we also include the ventral projection named the uncinate process (Fig. 15). The presence of this process and its size varies significantly among species without any particular

phylogenetic or ecological pattern identified so far (Macrini, 2012, 2014; Ruf, 2014, 2020).

(b) Frontoturbinals

Frontoturbinals are defined as turbinals located in the frontal recess and therefore do not meet the posterior transversal lamina (= lamina terminalis in fully ossified stages; Rowe et al., 2005; Ruf, 2020). The frontoturbinals originate from the middle chondrification centre and/or the horizontal lamina that separates the frontoturbinal recess from the maxillary recess; frontoturbinals are often fused to the lamina cribrosa posteriorly (Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Ruf, 2020); frontoturbinals are the first turbinals to ossify in Tupaia (Scandentia) (Ruf, 2020, citing Spatz, 1964), however this may not be a common pattern. They are also described as turbinals that do not develop medially and remain far from the nasal septum (Rowe et al., 2005, citing Allen, 1882). This character has been used by some authors to distinguish between ectoturbinals (= frontoturbinals and interturbinals) and endoturbinals (= ethmoturbinals and semicircular lamina) (Paulli, 1900*a*,*b*,*c*); the latter reach closer to the nasal septum.

(c) Ethmoturbinals

Ethmoturbinals originate from the posterior chondrification centre and are fully ossified in adult stages (Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Ruf, 2020). Like the frontoturbinals, the ethmoturbinals are connected posteriorly to the cribriform plate and therefore to the olfactory bulb *via* olfactory nerves (Fig. 2; Herbert *et al.*, 2018; Ruf, 2020). In many mammals, ethmoturbinals are more complex and numerous than frontoturbinals and therefore considered as the structures that are the most involved in olfactory processes.

Among ethmoturbinals, ethmoturbinal I (etI) has received much more attention than the others (e.g. Smith *et al.*, 2007*a*, 2021b; Deleon & Smith, 2014). Indeed, through its anterior projection and its division into two distinct lamellae (pars anterior and posterior; Figs 4, 10-16), it is easy to identify. The etI is generally the largest ethmoturbinal and the first ethmoturbinal to develop during ontogeny (Rowe et al., 2005; Ruf, 2020). The etI is the olfactory turbinal that reaches the most anterior part of the nasal cavity (Figs 4, 10-16). In lagomorphs and some rodents, the etI projects anteriorly to the limit or with a small overlap to the respiratory turbinals (Fig. 4; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Martinez et al., 2018). In some species among Lipotyphia (Fig. 11), Tenrecoidea (Fig. 14; elongated in Tenrec ecaudatus but not in Potamogale velox), Scandentia (e.g. the treeshrew Ptilocercus lowii), Carnivora and Marsupialia, the pars anterior of the etI projects furthest rostrally and may have great overlap with the respiratory turbinals (Fig 12, Ruf et al., 2015; Ruf, Behrens & Zeller, 2020; Wagner & Ruf, 2019; Martinez et al., 2020; Ito et al., 2022). In these species, and similarly to the nasoturbinal of some other species, the etI may have a dual function as a respiratory and olfactory turbinal (see also Smith et al., 2007a, 2016; Pang et al., 2016; Yee et al., 2016). Indeed, part of the pars anterior is covered by respiratory epithelium and the rest is covered by olfactory epithelium (Smith et al., 2007a; Martinez et al., 2020; Ruf, 2020). Using histology and micro-CT images, Martinez et al. (2020) identified a small incisura in some Lipotyphla and Tenrecoidea that may be used to estimate precisely the antero-posterior functional subdivision. In rodents, these two lamellae may be assigned to the etI since they fused proximally (e.g. Ruf, 2020). Smith & Rossie (2008), investigating primate nasal development, asserted that the etI pars posterior (etI pp) is distinct (with its own root lamella) from the etI pars anterior in its earliest phase of ontogeny. For that reason, these authors refer to etI pp as etII. Additional work will need to clarify whether etI pp is developmentally distinct in other mammals as well (see also Smith & Bonar, 2022). Readers should be alert to such terminological differences (see online Supporting Information, Table S1).

(d) Interturbinals

Interturbinals are olfactory turbinals that can develop between both fronto- and ethmoturbinals. In rodents, lagomorphs, primates, bats, and carnivorans, interturbinals develop later than fronto- and ethmoturbinals (Smith & Rossie, 2008; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Wagner & Ruf, 2019; Smith et al., 2021c). Typically, interturbinals do not extend as far medially as the fronto- and ethmoturbinals (Ruf, 2020) but some exceptions may occur (Macrini, 2012; Q. Martinez, personal observations). In mammals, the number of interturbinals varies greatly across species (Paulli, 1900a,b,c; Ruf, 2014; Martinez et al., 2018, 2020). Their homology is also unclear in some orders with highly complex olfactory turbinals [e.g. Cingulata or Proboscidea (Paulli, 1900a,b,c; Hautier et al., 2019; Martinez et al., 2024b]. However, one particular interturbinal located between ethmoturbinal I (etI) and II (etII) has received more attention and may be homologous in mammals. In the common fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology, this interturbinal is simply named interturbinal (it) (Figs 4, 10-15; e.g. Ruf, 2014, 2020, 2022; Ruf et al., 2015; Martinez et al., 2018). However, the presence of additional interturbinals between etI and II as well as anteriorly and posteriorly to this homologous interturbinal, complicates the anatomical nomenclature (Fig. 12; e.g. Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021). These additional interturbinals are probably the most variable turbinals in the mammalian clade and do not seem to follow a particular pattern. For example, in rodents, intra-individual (on left and right sides) and intra- and inter-specific variations were observed in these additional interturbinals (Martinez et al., 2018; Q. Martinez, personal observations). Finally, it is noteworthy that in some rodents, new turbinals have been identified between the naso- and maxilloturbinal and also may be considered as interturbinals (Martinez *et al.*, 2020).

(5) Other terminologies

Among the numerous homologous terms referring to the turbinals, 'turbinals', 'turbinates' and 'conchae' are the most widespread. The first two are mostly used for mammals while the latter is mostly used for other tetrapods. Some use 'turbinals' for the cartilaginous or bony structure, and 'conchae' for the combination of this structure and the epithelium that covers it (Bourke *et al.*, 2014; Bourke & Witmer, 2016; Hogan *et al.*, 2020). Because these terms have been used interchangeably and to avoid confusion, in this review, we simply refer to 'turbinals' for all tetrapods. We provide a non-exhaustive list of synonyms and correspondences of turbinal terminologies among numerous species and studies in Tables S1 and S2.

In mammals, the two most widespread terminologies are: (i) fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology and (ii) endo-/ectoturbinal (Macrini, 2012; Maier & Ruf, 2014). Fronto-/ethmoturbinal is mostly based on homology determined by developmental studies, which is the most widespread approach in comparative and systematic studies. Endo-/ ectoturbinal terminology is based on observations of adult specimens and by the medial extension of the turbinals. It presents an advantage in that it is easy to understand and illustrative, but has rather poor significance in systematics and evolutionary biology. In particular, it makes the comparison and discussion of homology of turbinals across species difficult. In most cases, ectoturbinals correspond to the turbinals found in the frontoturbinal recess (fronto- and interturbinals) but also interturbinals in the olfactory recess, while endoturbinals correspond to the remaining olfactory turbinals (semicircular lamina and ethmoturbinals) with the exception for some authors of the interturbinal located between ethmoturbinal I (etI) and II (etII) (Macrini, 2012 but see Paulli, 1900a, b, c). We also note that some authors mix these terminologies (e.g. Rossie, 2006) or use both together to be didactic (Macrini, 2014; Smith & Bonar, 2022).

Herein we retain the fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology which is meaningful from an evolutionary perspective (Tables S1 and S2). We mostly consider groups for which developmental studies exist and which do not have complex olfactory turbinals that will require extensive embryological studies to produce a proper terminology. Furthermore, our results are then easily comparable to recent studies (e.g. Smith et al., 2012, 2021c; Martinez et al., 2018, 2020; Lundeen & Kirk, 2019; Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021; Ruf, 2020, 2022; Ito et al., 2021, 2022; Smith & Bonar, 2022) employing the fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology adapted from Paulli (1900a,b,c). However, these studies do not include mammals with complex olfactory turbinals or with a large number of inter- and ethmoturbinals. Homology of olfactory turbinals is not yet clear for species with highly complex olfactory turbinals such as Carnivora, Perissodactyla or some myrmecophagous placental mammals (e.g. Paulli, 1900b; Reinbach, 1952a,b; Van Valkenburgh et al., 2014; Hautier et al., 2019). For these species, it may be

unwise to name olfactory turbinals using the fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology. Clarification awaits developmental studies of mammals with the most complex arrays of olfactory turbinals.

In this review, we follow the fronto-/ethmoturbinal terminology for mammals and have replaced the term concha with turbinals in the terminology proposed by Witmer (1995) for non mammalian species.

(6) Selective pressures affecting turbinals

It has been hypothesised that the number and the shape of turbinal bones are conserved across orders while their relative size and complexity are more labile, with variation related to species ecology (e.g. Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011, 2014; Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Green *et al.*, 2012; Macrini, 2012; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Yee *et al.*, 2016; Curtis & Simmons, 2017; Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020; Lundeen & Kirk, 2019; Wagner & Ruf, 2019). However, few studies have investigated this hypothesis using statistics, geometric morphometrics, evolutionary models or developmental approaches.

(a) Phylogeny

At higher taxonomic levels, turbinals are thought to carry a phylogenetic signal and several studies identified potential characters linked to phylogenetic relationships (Paulli, 1900a,b,c; Negus, 1958; Ruf, 2014, 2020). Within mammalian orders or families, gross turbinal anatomy generally does not vary significantly. For example, Ruf (2020) identified a rodent groundplan for olfactory turbinals that comprises two frontoturbinals, three ethmoturbinals, and one interturbinal between ethmoturbinals I and II [for dog, ochotonid and leporid groundplans, see Ruf (2014) and Wagner & Ruf (2019)]. Maier (2000) also suggested that the marginoturbinal is typical of therian mammals but some exceptions exist. Other studies attempted to score turbinal characters from adult specimens (e.g. Voss & Jansa, 2003; Macrini, 2012; Ruf, 2014, 2020; Lundeen & Kirk, 2019). The shape, complexity and relative size of maxilloturbinals varies greatly across the mammalian phylogeny (Rowe et al., 2005; Martinez et al., 2020, 2023b). For example, in Carnivora, Van Valkenburgh et al. (2014) demonstrated that the complexity of the maxilloturbinal differs between caniforms and feliforms with apparently similar ecologies (e.g. terrestrial, semi-aquatic). Not surprisingly, in mammals, the maxilloturbinal has a strong and significant phylogenetic signal (Martinez et al., 2023b).

Developmental constraints are also hypothesised to impact turbinal evolution (e.g. Rowe *et al.*, 2005), which might be in conflict for space with other structures in the nasal cavity. This hypothesis was widely discussed for eye proportions and some evidence has been found in Primates (Smith *et al.*, 2014), Scandentia (Ruf *et al.*, 2015) and Carnivora (Van Valkenburgh, Smith & Craven, 2014; Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021; Ruf, 2020). For instance, in the dog snout, length (and thus space limitation) does not constrain the number of turbinals (except additional interturbinals) but rather their complexity and shape (additional lamella, scrolls and branching). The observed increase in turbinal complexity from prenatal stages via brachycephalic breeds (e.g. pug), mesaticephalic breeds (e.g. German shepherd) to dolichocephalic breeds (e.g. borzoi) may correspond to an ontogenetic continuum (Wagner & Ruf, 2021). Rodents have large jaw muscles sometimes attaching on the rostrum as well as continuously growing incisors with roots occupying a significant part of the nasal cavity. Therefore, it is possible that muscle proportions and shape variations of their incisors constrained the shape and development of turbinals in rodents. The geometric organisation of the masticatory apparatus, which starts earlier in development than does ossification of the ethmoid complex, supports this hypothesis (e.g. Rowe et al., 2005). In the naked mole rat (*Heterocephalus glaber*), loss of the maxilloturbinal in some individuals results in a partially empty nasal cavity (Martinez et al., 2023b). The absence of replacement of this empty space by other structures suggests that conflict for space between different structures in the nasal cavity of the naked mole rat is unlikely. An alternative hypothesis is that the loss of this structure is ongoing (as suggested by the intra-individual and intra-specific variation) and that there is a delay between maxilloturbinal loss and the replacement of its space by other structures in the naked mole rat (Martinez et al., 2023b). This question will need to be addressed by using covariation and/or landmark-based geometric morphometric approaches that remain extremely rare in the field (e.g. Curtis et al., 2020). Finally, loss of the maxilloturbinal in the naked mole rat suggests that this turbinal may be energetically costly to maintain in mammals. Structures or functions that are not costly to maintain may be conserved even if they are no longer under strong selective pressures (Jeffery, 2005; Lahti et al., 2009; Charles *et al.*, 2013).

Turbinals are rarely preserved in the fossil record either due to their delicate nature or to the fact that they are cartilaginous. As turbinals are hidden inside the nasal cavity, access is limited and, in the past, was based on prepared or broken specimens (e.g. Hürzeler, 1936). In mammals turbinals have been described in fossil species of several groups, including Apatemyidae (Koenigswald, Ruf & Gingerich, 2009), Lagomorpha (Ruf, Meng & Fostowicz-Frelik, 2021), Primates (Lundeen & Kirk, 2019), terrestrial Artiodactyla (Hürzeler, 1936; Czubak, 2013; O'Brien et al., 2016; Keppeler et al., 2023), Cetacea (e.g. Tsai & Fordyce, 2018), and Xenarthra (Fernicola et al., 2012; Amson, Billet & Muizon, 2018). The anatomy of turbinals was recently used to discuss the phylogenetic position of some extinct primates, including the early Eocene Shoshonius cooperi, the late middle Eocene Rooneyia viejaensis, and the early Miocene Homunculus patagonicus (Lundeen & Kirk, 2019; Kirk & Lundeen, 2020; Lundeen & Kay, 2022). Recently, the first description of turbinal remnants in a fossil lagomorph (Palaeolagus haydeni from the early Oligocene of North America) helped to elucidate the polarisation of certain characters in the turbinal

skeleton of extant rabbits, hares and pikas (Ruf et al., 2021). Turbinal structures or their remnants (respiratory as well as olfactory) are also known from the basal mammaliaforms Haldanodon exspectatus (Lillegraven & Krusat, 1991) and Morganucodon (Kermack, Mussett & Rigney, 1981), the nonmammaliaform cynodont Brasiltherium riograndensis [Ruf et al. (2014) but see Crompton et al. (2017)] and the dicynodonts Lystrosaurus declivis and Kawingasaurus fossilis (Laaß et al., 2011; Laaß & Kaestner, 2023). However, as turbinals were likely cartilaginous in mammalian ancestors, evidence from other non-mammalian therapsids is scarce and mostly restricted to bony ridges or scars (attachment sites of turbinals) inside the nasal cavity (e.g. Hillenius, 1994; Sigurdsen, 2005; Crompton et al., 2017; Franco et al., 2021). Such bony scars are interpreted as potential attachment sites of respiratory turbinals in the late Permian therocephalian *Glanosuchus* [~ 261 million years ago (Mya); Hillenius, 1992, 1994]. Respiratory ridges are also found in later cynodonts such as Massetognathus (Crompton et al., 2017) and in the dicynodont Pristerodon mackayi; in the latter two, these ridges are associated with potential maxillo- or nasoturbinals (Laaß et al., 2011; Laaß & Kaestner, 2023). Similarly, some bony scars in the dicynodont Lystrosaurus were interpreted as indicating the attachment of potential maxillo- or nasoturbinals (Laaß et al., 2011). These bony scars have been proposed to indicate endothermy. However, recent work on semicircular canal biomechanics demonstrated that therocephalians as well as Lystrosaurus were probably ectothermic (Araújo et al., 2022). Olfactory turbinal ridges have also been described in some non-mammalian cynodonts [e.g. Diademodon and Thrinaxodon (Watson, 1913; Brink, 1956; Parsons, 1971a; Hillenius, 1994)] and dicynodonts (Laaß et al., 2011; Laaß & Kaestner, 2023).

Phylogenetic relationships and developmental constraints cannot explain all the differences in turbinals observed across mammals. Indeed, it is now known that the relative surface area and complexity of turbinals greatly varies with species ecology. In the following two sections, we discuss the evolution of olfaction and heat and moisture conservation in the context of species ecology.

(b) Ecology and olfactory turbinals

Some comparative work has demonstrated a relation between the relative surface area of turbinals and aspects of species ecology such as diet (e.g. earthworm consumption, scavengers) or lifestyle (Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2004, 2011, 2014; Green *et al.*, 2012; Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020, 2023*a*). However, in three species of primates, the absolute surface area bearing olfactory epithelium was negatively correlated to the percentage of frugivory as well as sniffing behaviour (Melin *et al.*, 2022). This absence of a positive relation with frugivory is a striking contrast with the main olfactory bulb volume in these species or with the olfactory receptor (OR) gene composition in frugivorous bats (Hayden *et al.*, 2014; Melin *et al.*, 2022). Using a

comprehensive data set of phyllostomid bats, Yohe et al. (2022) found a potential link between diet and the olfactory epithelium surface area of the olfactory turbinals. However, they demonstrated that there was no relation between the diet and the evolutionary rates of OR genes extracted from transcriptomes of the olfactory turbinal epithelium. From data in Laska (2005) and Kowalewsky et al. (2006), Van Valkenburgh *et al.* (2011) hypothesised that the relative surface area of turbinals is neither correlated with olfactory sensitivity nor with olfactory discrimination. Instead, they hypothesised that it may characterise the diversity of odorants that can be perceived. By contrast, Martinez et al. (2018) demonstrated that highly specialised worm-eating rodents have significantly higher relative surface area and complexity of olfactory turbinals compared to their close omnivorous and carnivorous relatives. This suggests that the relative size of olfactory turbinals may be linked to olfactory sensitivity, at least in these murids. However, the very small number of studies linking olfactory performance to the relative size of olfactory organs leaves many open questions. In rodents (23 species from 15 families, comprising Ctenohytrica, mouse-, and squirrel-related clades), the relative and absolute surface area as well as the number of olfactory turbinals are not significantly correlated with the number of functional OR genes (Fig. 17A; Martinez et al., 2023a). By contrast, comprehensive study of 64 placental mammal species representing most of the living orders found a significant positive correlation between the total number of OR genes (i.e. both functional and non-functional genes) and the number of olfactory turbinals (including the semicircular lamina; Christmas et al., 2023). To investigate the functional significance of this further, we used their data to plot the relation between the number of functional OR genes and the number of olfactory turbinals in the same 64 species. This correlation is also significant and positive (Fig. 17B). This is a striking contrast with the results of Martinez et al. (2023a), which perhaps may be explained by the fact that the sampling of the two studies is at different phylogenetic scales (rodents versus placental mammals). In addition, within an order, the absolute number of olfactory turbinals may have little functional significance since species with a similar number of olfactory turbinals may have different absolute or relative surface areas of the olfactory turbinals (Fig. 17A; Martinez et al., 2023a).

In mammals, the number of functional OR genes is significantly correlated with the results of performance tests for olfactory sensitivity and discrimination that approximate the olfactory capabilities of the species (Martinez, Amson & Laska, 2024*a*). Therefore, the number of functional OR genes may be linked to a species' olfactory capabilities. However, when monomolecular odorants are independently considered for olfactory sensitivity performance, the relationships turn out to be non-significant. There was also a lack of significance when considering the discrimination tests independently (Martinez, Amson & Laska, 2024*a*). These differences may reflect the insufficient statistical power of the tests when considered individually. The functional interpretation of various olfactory proxies must also account for

potential confounding effects such as (i) variation in olfactory epithelium cover (Smith et al., 2004, 2014; Yee et al., 2016; Ruf, 2020), (ii) receptor density (Smith & Bhatnagar, 2004; Smith et al., 2004), (iii) degree of receptive range of the ORs (Kaupp, 2010), (iv) variations in degree of neural connectivity among organs and species (Hildebrand & Shepherd, 1997) and (v) variation in the link between the number of functional OR genes and their expression levels (Young et al., 2003; see also discussion in Martinez et al., 2023b, 2024a). New evidence will probably emerge from medical studies. Pathologies of the sense of smell are numerous and include a reduction or loss of the sense of smell (hyposmia, microsmia, anosmia), an increase in olfactory sensitivity (hyperosmia), the inability to identify a smell correctly (parosmia), or smelling odours that are not actually there (phantosmia; Hernandez et al., 2023). By comparing information on these pathologies with neuronal pathways, causes, and organ differences, it could be possible to fine tune our knowledge on these olfactory components of olfactory capabilities.

A reduction in the relative surface area of the olfactory turbinals has taken place convergently in several amphibious and aquatic mammalian lineages (Van Valkenburgh et al., 2011; Martinez et al., 2020). More generally, olfactory epithelium reduction may be a feature of aquatic tetrapods (Saint Girons, 1976). Among fully aquatic mammals, baleen whales (mysticetes) have ethmoturbinals with some olfactory epithelium (e.g. Balaena mysticetus; Farnkopf et al., 2022). An integrative approach suggested that although reduced, Balaena mysticetus has a functional sense of smell used to detect airborne odorants during breathing (Farnkopf et al., 2022). Ethmoturbinals are also known in other mysticetes such as Balaenoptera acutorostrata and Eubalaena australis (Godfrey et al., 2013; Berta et al., 2014; Buono et al., 2015; Ichishima, 2016). Apparently, extant toothed whales (odontocetes) lack ethmoturbinals (Godfrey et al., 2013; Berta et al., 2014; Ichishima, 2016) but more comprehensive and integrative works are still needed. This pattern in cetaceans is also confirmed by the number of OR genes, with mysticetes having more than odontocetes. The latter exhibit the lowest number among all placentals (Christmas et al., 2023). During the evolution of cetaceans, a reduction in the relative size of their olfactory organs has been hypothesised to mirror their land-to-water transition (Farnkopf, 2022). Olfactory turbinals as well as a potential maxilloturbinal and nasoturbinal been identified in several extinct cetaceans have (e.g. Stromer, 1903; Uhen, 2004; Geisler, Sanders & Luo, 2005; Nummela, Hussain & Thewissen, 2006; Pihlström, 2008; Fahlke et al., 2011; Godfrey et al., 2013; Berta et al., 2014; Peri et al., 2020). Berta et al. (2014) hypothesised that a reduction in turbinal bones among cetaceans probably occurred during the Eocene or early Oligocene. Available data on cetacean olfactory turbinals are too incomplete to test properly their potential reduction but Peri et al. (2020) did document a potential reduction of olfactory turbinals in the middle Eocene protocetid Aegyptocetus tarfa as compared to terrestrial Artiodactyla.



Fig. 17. Comparison of published results showing the relation between the number of functional olfactory receptor (OR) genes and the number of turbinals in (A) 23 species of rodents (from Martinez *et al.*, 2023*a*) and (B) 64 species of mammal (from Christmas *et al.*, 2023). In B, the solid line is an ordinary linear regression and the dashed line a phylogenetic generalised least squares (PGLS) regression.

Some shallow-diving tetrapods have acquired a suite of adaptations referred to as bone mass increase, which is thought to assist in underwater trim and buoyancy control (Domning & de Buffrénil, 1991). Interestingly, pachyostosis (additional deposition of periosteal bone), usually restricted to the ribs, has been identified in the turbinals of some extinct aquatic sloths (especially Thalassocnus carolomartini; Amson et al., 2018) as well as in some extant and extinct sirenians (Genschow, 1934; Gingerich et al., 1994; Martinez et al., 2024b). Because this pattern seems to affect respiratory and olfactory turbinals equally, it is unlikely that it involves functional adaptations to heat and moisture conservation and/or olfactory capabilities. The exact reason for pachyostotic turbinals remains unclear and is currently only associated with a potentially systemic increase in bone mass (see discussion in Amson et al., 2018).

(c) Ecology and respiratory turbinals

Most studies investigating the role of nasal morphology in heat and moisture conservation capabilities do not focus specifically on respiratory turbinals, but rather on the whole nasal cavity. As an example, kangaroo rats (*Dipodomys spectabilis*) live in hot environments where water resources are limited, and rely on food to meet their water requirements (Jackson & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1964). In the absence of intense activity, sweating evaporation is relatively low, and therefore the most important source of water loss is breathing. Several studies demonstrated that this species has more efficient heat and moisture conservation capabilities than other rodents (e.g. Rattus norvegicus): kangaroo rats can recover between 54 and 75% of the exhaled water (Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1970, 1981; Collins et al., 1971). Surprisingly, they are also able to exhale air 14 °C below their body temperature and even below the ambient temperature (Jackson & Schmidt-Nielsen, 1964; Schmidt-Nielsen, 1969). These heat- and moisture-conservation features are assumed to result from their respiratory turbinals. Experiments performed in a dry environment on highly dehydrated camels (Camelus dromedarius) with presumed dry nasal cavities showed that the water-saving process works similarly compared to that in non-dehydrated conditions (Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1981). However, in hot environments, variations were observed in the efficiency of respiratory turbinals between day and night: camels recovered 70% of water loss during night exhalation whereas this fell to 25% during the day. Similar variations were observed for heat-cooling efficiency, and were explained by variations in blood pressure and airflow current (Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1981; Langman, 1985). Cold deserts such as in arctic regions generally have drier air than hot deserts (Langman, 1985). Experimental studies on reindeer (Rangifer tarandus) demonstrated that this species also exhales relatively cold and dry air, requiring them to drink only 73 ml of water per day (resting at -5 °C; Langman, 1985). In comparison, if a reindeer exhaled saturated and warm air (like humans), it would require 17 times

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13122, Wiley Online Library on [02/08/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

more water (1.241 per day; Langman, 1985). Langman (1985) also estimated that during expiration, reindeers recovered 75% of heat that was previously added to the inspired air. Therefore, this species, which experiences extreme climatic conditions, has evolved energy- and water-saving adaptations. Interestingly, reindeers have the second highest relative surface area of the maxilloturbinal of any investigated mammal, at 463% of the predicted value for its skull length (Martinez *et al.*, 2023*b*).

In small non-flying mammals, there also might be a potential relation between the relative surface area of respiratory turbinals and temperature or elevation (see supplementary information in Martinez et al., 2020). Comparisons can be made with humans (Homo sapiens) for example, who expire fully saturated air at a temperature close to the body temperature (Walker & Wells, 1961; Schmidt-Nielsen, 1969) and who have a medium-sized maxilloturbinal relative surface area compared to other mammalian orders (Martinez et al., 2023b). In experimental conditions, the naked mole rat (Heterocephalus glaber) has among the highest evaporative water loss recorded in mammals (Buffenstein & Yahav, 1991; but see also Buffenstein & Jarvis, 1985). It is also a poorly thermoregulating endotherm with low basal metabolic rate (McNab, 1966; Withers & Jarvis, 1980; Buffenstein & Yahav, 1991; Hislop & Buffenstein, 1994; Buffenstein et al., 2021; Araújo et al., 2022; but see Braude et al., 2021). This species has a unique pattern of reduction of the maxilloturbinal (Martinez et al., 2023b). At present, these examples remain isolated cases and larger scale analyses are needed to provide functional evidence. However, direct investigations between respiratory turbinals and heat and moisture conservation or physiological proxies are rare. Across 310 mammalian species, differences in the relative surface area of the maxilloturbinal have been linked with ecology (Martinez et al., 2023b). However, they were not significantly explained by heterothermy (such as torpor, hibernation and aestivation), although this could only be tested with a reduced data set of one or two species per thermal condition; (Martinez et al., 2023b). Contrary to previous hypotheses and tests across mammals (reviewed in Owerkowicz et al., 2015), at the mammalian scale, the corrected basal metabolic rate and body temperature are not correlated with the relative surface area of the maxilloturbinal (Martinez et al., 2023b). The same holds true for ventilation rate (but only based on six species; Martinez et al., 2023b).

The best illustration of a correlation between lifestyle and the respiratory turbinals is found for amphibious and aquatic species. Many amphibious and aquatic mammals show greater respiratory turbinal surface area and/or complexity (Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011; Martinez *et al.*, 2020, 2023*b*; Mason *et al.*, 2020). This has been interpreted as an adaptation to limit heat loss due to the high thermal inertia of water. Pinnipeds (seals and walruses) are also known for efficient moisture conservation, which has been interpreted as an adaptation to salty environments (Lester & Costa, 2006; Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011). To our knowledge, among aquatic species, only cetaceans exhibit a reduction or an absence of respiratory turbinals and an Eocene protocetid may feature a reduction of the respiratory and olfactory turbinals compared to terrestrial Artiodactyla (Peri *et al.*, 2020). In some mysticetes, a maxilloturbinal has been documented, and there is known variation including some vestigial forms in some odontocetes (reviewed in Berta *et al.*, 2014). However, Farnkopf *et al.* (2022) did not find a maxilloturbinal in the specimens of *Balaena mysticetus* they investigated.

An increase in respiratory turbinal surface area in amphibious and aquatic mammals is in striking contrast to the reduction of their olfactory turbinals (Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2011; Martinez *et al.*, 2020). This provides an example of a potential trade-off: when olfactory turbinals are reduced, respiratory turbinals are increased and *vice versa* (Martinez *et al.*, 2020). This implies that there is a strong selective pressure for space in the nasal cavity. Trade-offs have been observed in worm-eating rodents that show a greater allocation of space to olfactory turbinals and a reduction in size of respiratory turbinals (Martinez *et al.*, 2018).

In addition to a protective role against abrasive and toxic substances (Negus, 1958; Morgan & Monticello, 1990; Harkema et al., 2006; Moshkin et al., 2014), respiratory turbinals are also assumed to participate in cooling of the brain via the carotid rete (Baker & Hayward, 1968; Langman et al., 1978; Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1981; Bourke et al., 2014; Owerkowicz et al., 2015). As with olfaction, heat- and moistureconservation capabilities are multifactorial processes involving other structures in addition to the turbinals, for example in ventilation rate (Martinez et al., 2023b), efficiency of oxygen extraction (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1969), body surface evaporation (Burch & Winsor, 1944), renal mechanisms involved in water conservation (Schmidt-Nielsen & Haines, 1964), lung structure (e.g. alveoli and exchange surface; Lester & Costa, 2006), sweat glands or the fur and keratinous cover of the skin. Finally, as the gap width in the nasal tract may be an important variable (Collins et al., 1971; Schroter & Watkins, 1989; Zwicker et al., 2018), further studies should also consider the epithelium and soft tissues of the nasal cavity including for example those of the marginoturbinal and atrioturbinal.

III. NON-AVIAN DINOSAURS AND BIRDS

Since turbinals are mostly cartilaginous in sauropsids, fossil evidence is still unclear and highly debated. Concerning respiratory turbinals, palaeontologists have discussed the shape and cross section of the nasal cavity of sauropsids (Ruben *et al.*, 1996; Ruben & Jones, 2000). For example, the late Cretaceous ornithurine *Hesperomis* (\sim 80 Mya) had a nasal cavity similar to that of extant birds (Witmer, 1997). Hillenius & Ruben (2004) therefore hypothesised that this genus had similar respiratory turbinals to extant birds. Based on the absence of respiratory turbinals in even derived non-avian theropod dinosaurs (e.g. *Archaeopteryx*), Ruben & Jones

(2000) hypothesised that early birds may have been ectotherms. Some scars found in *Tyrannosaurus* (\sim 75 Mya) may be potential olfactory turbinals (Ruben *et al.*, 1996), hadrosaur dinosaurs may have had large olfactory turbinals (Parsons, 1971*a*) and some pachycephalosaurids had extensive olfactory turbinals as well as scars for respiratory turbinals (Bourke *et al.*, 2014).

Turbinals may have evolved convergently in mammals and birds, with similar functions, but this remains an open question (Gauthier, Kluge & Rowe, 1988; Witmer, 1995; Geist, 2000; Owerkowicz *et al.*, 2015). A single turbinal-like structure could have equally parsimoniously been convergently acquired in synapsids and sauropsids, or lost in turtles (see Gauthier *et al.*, 1988; Witmer, 1995). To date, very few comparative studies of turbinal histology in birds have been published (Bang, 1971). Therefore, for many species, the functional distinction between respiratory and olfactory turbinals is based only on their morphology and location. During bird development, the nasal septum is the first to form followed by the caudal turbinal, then the middle and finally the rostral turbinals (reviewed in Witmer, 1995). It is generally accepted that turbinals in birds are composed of cartilage or poorly ossified bone (Zaher & Abu-Taira, 2013; Owerkowicz et al., 2015), which explains why they have been difficult to study using CT technologies. However, some birds have well-ossified turbinals that are visible using CT scans [e.g. woodpeckers (Owerkowicz et al., 2015); Apteryx haastii (O. Martinez, personal observations from MorphoSource)]. Adult birds generally possess two respiratory and one olfactory turbinal (Negus, 1958; Parsons, 1959b; Portmann, 1961; Wenzel, 1971; Hogan et al., 2020) often named rostral, middle, and caudal turbinal, respectively (Fig. 18). As for mammals, turbinal names have several synonyms (Tables S1 and S2). Here, we use rostral/ middle/caudal turbinal terminology, simplifying by replacing the term 'concha' with 'turbinal'. The rostral turbinal is covered by stratified squamous epithelium. The middle turbinal



Fig. 18. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull and the soft tissues of a black-footed albatross [*Phoebastria nigripes*, Ohio University Vertebrate Collection (OUVC) 10905] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Six coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Lawrence Witmer and Emily Addams (MorphoSource ID number 000078946).

is mostly covered by ciliated respiratory epithelium and the caudal turbinal by olfactory epithelium (Bang, 1971). Despite this apparent avian bauplan of three turbinals, some variation has been documented in the number of turbinals (Bang, 1966, 1971). As an example, some species have an atrioturbinal located anteriorly or laterally to the rostral turbinal (Fig. 18, Table S2; Bang, 1971; Bourke & Witmer, 2016; Hogan et al., 2020). Like the rostral turbinal, the atrioturbinal is covered by stratified squamous epithelium (Bang, 1971). Interestingly, the atrio- and rostral turbinals play a role in directing and maintaining airflow of the inspired air. They direct airflow towards the olfactory recess as well as humidifying the air that passes along the nasal gland (at the base of the crista nasalis) before it enters the deeper respiratory tract (Bourke & Witmer, 2016). We suspect that the presence of the atrioturbinal may be overlooked in studies that are not based on CT data (e.g. Bang, 1971). Indeed, in the blackfooted albatross (Phoebastria nigripes) (Fig. 18), we identified a potential atrioturbinal that is weakly differentiated from the nasal floor (Fig. 18). As another example of turbinal variation in birds, the white-rumped vulture (Gyps bengalensis) may lack both rostral and caudal turbinals (Bang, 1971). The caudal turbinal also varies from highly complex in the kiwi (Apteryx sp.) or highly developed in the turkey vulture (Cathartes aura) to strongly reduced or completely absent in swifts, pigeons, wood hoopoes and the white-rumped vulture (Bang, 1971; Parsons, 1971a). When present, the caudal turbinal of birds often contains a pneumatic cavity (= cavum conchae; Witmer, 1995; Hogan et al., 2020). Most studies on turbinals in birds assume that only the caudal turbinal is covered by olfactory epithelium and therefore that the other turbinals are respiratory. However very few histological works exist (Bang, 1971; Jin et al., 2008). As in most mammals, in some birds the olfactory epithelium lines other parts of the nasal cavity such as parts of the floor, roof and nasal septum (Bang, 1971). In some species, olfactory epithelium may even line some part of the middle turbinal (Bang, 1971). Interestingly, swifts, which lack a caudal turbinal, have an expansion of their olfactory chamber where olfactory epithelium is present (Bang, 1971). The respiratory turbinal surface area may be on average three times smaller in birds than in mammals (Owerkowicz et al., 2015). It has been demonstrated that the respiratory tract (including the respiratory turbinals) of the cactus wren (Campylorhynchus brunneicapillus) helps to limit water loss over a range from 49% (at 30 °C) to 74% (at 15 °C; Schmidt-Nielsen et al., 1970). This effective countercurrent heat-exchange mechanism was also demonstrated in other bird species (Geist, 2000; Michaeli & Pinshow, 2001). In emus (Dromaius novaehollandiae), respiratory turbinals have a key role in heat conservation (Owerkowicz et al., 2015). However, field metabolic rates were not significantly correlated with the surface area of respiratory turbinals (estimated using two-dimensional slices) and their respiratory turbinals may not be critical for bird endothermy (Owerkowicz et al., 2015). Indeed, when absent, respiratory turbinals may be compensated by the well-developed avian trachea (Owerkowicz et al., 2015).

IV. CROCODILIANS

Crocodilians have a very complex nasal chamber in comparison to other non-mammalian tetrapods, which integrates several recesses and sinuses (Parsons, 1967; Witmer, 1995). Crocodilians have three turbinals (Parsons, 1959*a*; Saint Girons, 1976; Witmer, 1995) referred to here as preturbinal, turbinal, and post-turbinal (Fig. 19, Table S2). In Fig. 19, the colour used for the turbinals of the saltwater crocodile indicates homology as proposed by Witmer (1995) in comparison to avian turbinals (Fig. 18). However, from a general perspective homology remains subject to debate. (e.g. Saint Girons, 1976).

Histology, immuno-histology, and electron microscopy studies have demonstrated that most of the nasal cavity (comprising the nasal roof, walls, and turbinals) is lined with olfactory epithelium (Saint Girons, 1976; Hansen, 2007). There is an antero-posterior gradient of olfactory neuron density (Hansen, 2007). Interestingly, some olfactory neurons are also present on the thin epithelial surface (Hansen, 2007). Because of their high density of olfactory neurons, an olfactory function of the turbinal and the post-turbinal is not debated (Saint Girons, 1976; Hansen, 2007; Bourke et al., 2014). Bourke et al. (2014) classified the pre-turbinal as a respiratory turbinal because of its position and vascularisation. However, in addition to some respiratory epithelium (composed of mucous and ciliated cells), the pre-turbinal is also covered in part by olfactory epithelium (Saint Girons, 1976; Hansen, 2007). Therefore it is likely that the pre-turbinal of crocodilians has a dual function. The anterior part of the pre-turbinal is not differentiated from the roof and walls of the nasal cavity (Fig. 19) which complicates its identification using classical two-dimensional histology (Table S2). Future precise mapping of the epithelium of the pre-turbinal will be required to identify its exact function. In any case, the presence of a respiratory or partially respiratory turbinal in crocodilians suggests that the respiratory turbinals are not necessarily associated with endothermy (Bourke et al., 2014; Owerkowicz et al., 2015; Martinez et al., 2023b). However, we should note that the ancestors of modern crocodilians may have been endotherms (Seymour et al., 2004). Interestingly, the olfactory epithelium of crocodilians contains two types of olfactory sensory neurons as well as some solitary chemosensory cells (Hansen, 2007). Their function remains unknown but may be linked to the ability of some crocodilians to detect both air-borne and water-soluble odours (Weldon et al., 1990). Among semi-aquatic vertebrates, the crocodilian pattern of large olfactory regions (including olfactory turbinals) and loss of the vomeronasal organ (another olfactory organ) appears rare but has only been investigated in some species.

V. TURTLES

Turtles seem to lack turbinals (Parsons, 1959b, 1971a,b; Gauthier *et al.*, 1988; Witmer, 1995), but detailed



Fig. 19. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull and the soft tissues of a saltwater crocodile [*Crocodylus porosus*, Ohio University Vertebrate Collection (OUVC) 10899] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Six coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Lawrence Witmer and Joshua Krech (MorphoSource ID number 000073608).

comparative studies are needed to confirm this. Some authors reported the presence of 'laterale Grenzfalte', also named as the 'conchal ridge' that is suggested to be a rudimentary turbinal or the 'Muschelwulst' that has been compared to the squamate turbinal (e.g. Parsons, 1967; Witmer, 1995). Similarities with the turbinal of the Philippine bent-toed gecko Cyrtodactylus philippinicus (Squamata, see Section VI.1 and Fig. 20) suggest that in the Asiatic softshell turtle Amyda cartilaginea so-called (Trionychidae) the 'olfactory region' of Parsons (1971b fig. 4H referred to therein as Trionyx cartilagineus) may be a potential turbinal. Parsons (1959b) and Witmer (1995) suggested a ridge on the lateral wall of the olfactory region of Testudo graeca ('laterale Grenzfalte' in Witmer, 1995) may be analogous to a turbinal. However later examinations rejected this hypothesis (Parsons, 1967; Q. Martinez, personal observations in Testudo hermanni). Despite the apparent absence of turbinals, turtles have an olfactory recess line with olfactory epithelium containing large Bowman's glands (Parsons, 1967, 1971b). Interestingly, in turtles there may be a trade-off between the relative surface areas covered by the olfactory and vomeronasal epithelia: aquatic turtles tend to feature a reduced olfactory epithelium and an increased vomeronasal epithelium (Parsons, 1971b).

VI. LEPIDOSAURIA (SNAKES, LIZARDS AND KIN)

(1) Squamata

In lizards, when present, there is normally only one cartilaginous turbinal (Fig. 20; Gaupp, 1900; Stebbins, 1948; Parsons, 1959b, 1967; Witmer, 1995; Bourke et al., 2014) but a second turbinal is known at least in Heloderma suspectum (Bernstein, 1999). A medial and lateral lamella projecting from the single turbinal was also described in an early juvenile stage of Lacerta agilis (Gaupp, 1900). This single turbinal is mostly covered by olfactory epithelium that also lines some parts of the roof and walls of the nasal cavity. Most studies consider the lizard turbinal as an olfactory turbinal, but this is debated (Stebbins, 1948; Bellairs, 1949; Parsons, 1967; Geist, 2000; Bourke et al., 2014; Owerkowicz et al., 2015). Indeed, in some species, the antero-ventral part of the turbinal is lined with respiratory epithelium (Stebbins, 1948; Parsons, 1959b). In this case, the turbinal may have a dual function. Important variations exist in the morphology of this turbinal and reduction or potential loss have been documented in some Chamaeleonidae, Phrynosomatidae (e.g. Uma notata), Dactyloidae (e.g. loss in Anolis carolinensis), Crotaphytidae (Crotaphytus) and Iguanidae (*Dipsosaurus*; Stebbins, 1948; Parsons, 1967; Saint Girons, 1976). This pattern was associated with an





Fig. 20. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull and the soft tissues of *Cyrtodactylus philippinicus* [University of Florida (UF) 50940] with threedimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Three coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Edward Stanley (MorphoSource ID number 000364235).

arboreal lifestyle despite the fact that not all these species are arboreal, and that some arboreal species have a highly developed olfactory region (Parsons, 1967). Among Iguania, Saint Girons (1976) described important reductions in some arboreal and insectivorous species.

To our knowledge, the few studied snakes (e.g. *Leptodeira* and *Vipera*) have a single turbinal (Fig. 21, Table S2) mostly covered by olfactory epithelium on its postero-dorsal part and by respiratory epithelium on its antero-ventral part (Peyer, 1912; Brock, 1929; Parsons, 1959b). Some fully aquatic snakes (Acrochordidae and Hydrophiinae) may have lost the turbinal or have a non-functional olfactory epithelium whereas some less-aquatic taxa (Laticaudinae and Homalopsinae) may only feature a slightly reduced olfactory epithelium. The olfactory epithelium of semi-aquatic (= amphibious) taxa such as Natricinae may be more similar to that of their terrestrial relatives (Parsons, 1967; Gabe & Saint Girons, 1973; Saint Girons, 1976). Interestingly, aquatic snakes may have a well-developed vomeronasal organ (Saint Girons, 1976).

(2) Rhynchocephalia

Despite some debate, the tuatara (*Sphenodon punctatus*) may have two turbinals: a caudal and rostral turbinal; they may be incompletely separated (Table S2; Parsons, 1959*b*, 1967; Witmer, 1995; Bernstein, 1999).

VII. LISSAMPHIBIA (EXTANT AMPHIBIANS)

Many studies affirmed that Lissamphibia lack turbinals (Stebbins, 1948; Parsons, 1959*b*; Parsons & Williams, 1963; Gauthier *et al.*, 1988) but studies on the main olfactory

apparatus of Lissamphibia remain rare; their olfactory system is less studied than their vomeronasal organ. However, the morphology of the nasal septum and the relative position of the nasal sac (= the area covered by olfactory epithelium, also referred to as the olfactory sac and 'eminentia olfactoria') varies among Lissamphibia (Pusey, 1943; Stephenson, 1951; Parsons & Williams, 1963; Dilkes, 1993).

(1) Anura

To our knowledge, there is no mention of turbinals in Anura. However, comparative studies are lacking.

(2) Caudata (= Urodela)

Witmer (1995) mentioned that De Beer (1937) identified a rudimentary turbinal in *Ambystoma*. This observation may refer to the longitudinal ridges identified by Eisthen *et al.* (1994) which they defined as a 'non-described' structure in terrestrial vertebrates. These ridges, probably not turbinals, are covered by non-sensory epithelium that lose their vascularisation in adult stages (Eisthen *et al.*, 1994). In *Salamandra salamandra*, we could not identify a turbinal (Q. Martinez, personal observations), and this may also apply to many other Caudata. Interestingly, the nasal cavity of the axolotl (*Ambystoma mexicanum*) contains functional olfactory epithelium (Eisthen *et al.*, 1994) which contradicts previous observations reporting the absence of Bowman's glands in neotenic urodela (Parsons & Williams, 1963; Parsons, 1967; Saint Girons, 1976).



Fig. 21. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull and the soft tissues of a Mexican small-headed rattlesnake [*Crotalus intermedius*, University of Florida (UF) 52552] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Three coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Edward Stanley (MorphoSource ID number 000445155).

(3) Gymnophiona

To our knowledge, there is no mention of turbinals in Gymnophiona. Apparently, olfactory epithelium is highly developed in this clade (Saint Girons, 1976). Similarly to observations for some snakes (see Section VI.1), some fully aquatic Typhlonectidae (*Chthonerpeton indistinctum* and *Typhlonectes natans*) have reduced olfactory epithelium and an increase in extent of the vomeronasal epithelium. In *Dermophis mexicanus*, we identified a structure that may be interpreted as a potential turbinal (Fig. 22) and Schmidt & Wake (1990) found it to be covered by sensory epithelium. This potential turbinal may be considered as part of the *duct olfactor* which may be connected to the vomer (Seydel, 1895).

VIII. QUANTITATIVE APPROACHES AND METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES

Improved access to CT technology has allowed many quantifications of the surface area of turbinals (e.g. Van Valkenburgh *et al.*, 2004, 2011, 2014; Green *et al.*, 2012; Martinez *et al.*, 2018, 2020, 2023*a,b*; Lundeen & Kirk, 2019; Wagner & Ruf, 2019; Peri *et al.*, 2020; Lundeen & Kay, 2022; Melin *et al.*, 2022). As often with quantitative approaches, the methodology used in data acquisition as well as in subsequent analysis may impact the results. For olfaction, significant issues assigned to methodological differences were observed in estimates of numbers of cells and olfactory neurons (Saint Girons, 1976; Hansen, 2007) as well as in the number of OR genes. Because turbinals are numerous, thin, and intricate structures, their segmentation (using CT data) may also impact quantification of their surface area in at least three ways. (i) Different methods to segment turbinals exist and the employed methodology is not necessarily specified (e.g. how to segment the roots of the turbinals and isolate them from their attachment; see Martinez et al., 2023b). What is segmented may also be unclear. As an example, 'ethmoturbinals' is sometimes used as a synonym for olfactory turbinals. However, in this case, it is not possible to decipher if interturbinals and frontoturbinals were considered. The inclusion or the exclusion of the semicircular lamina is another example (Martinez et al., 2023a). (*ii*) The quality of the scans can affect surface area estimation. Quality is difficult to judge from a published article because it is not only described by resolution. As an example, noisy scans or with a narrow range of grey values may overestimate the surface area of turbinals. (iii) The smoothing parameters used to generate the segmented surface also impact quantitative estimations. Unfortunately, this parameter cannot be standardised since it also depends on the quality of the scans and the software applied. Such artifacts are expected to be less problematic when comparing phylogenetically distant species, as with increasing phylogenetic distance, more differences are expected in the overall shape of a given structure.



Fig. 22. (Top) Sagittal views of the skull and the soft tissues of a Mexican burrowing caecilian [*Dermophis mexicanus*, amphibian, University of Florida (UF) 144682] with three-dimensional illustration of the segmented turbinal shown in lateral and medial views. (Bottom) Three coronal sections along the nasal cavity at positions identified by numbers in the top left image. Raw micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) data from Jaimi Gray (MorphoSource ID number 000408376).

As a result, in order to be valid, an intra-specific comparison of turbinal surface area will need to be extremely rigorous in the process of data acquisition. Furthermore, the use of the surface area of all turbinals (respiratory and olfactory turbinals) to scale the surface area of the turbinals (i.e. correct for size) may limit these methodological artifacts. However, prior to applying such size correction, the relation to the body-size proxies needs to be checked as well as the absence of trade-offs between the turbinal of interest and the overall turbinals (Martinez *et al.*, 2020, 2023*b*). Therefore, in a quantitative approach, we recommend that studies do not merge data segmented by different teams, especially when data are not corrected by the surface area of all the turbinals.

The use of size correction for sensory-related structures has been heavily debated (e.g. Smith & Bhatnagar, 2004; Martinez et al., 2023a). Indeed, from a functional perspective, the absolute size of a sensory-related structure is probably relevant. As an example, if olfactory turbinal surface area is hypothesised to be a proxy for the number of olfactory neurons, then the absolute surface area may be more likely to reflect olfactory performance. On the other hand, when comparing phylogenetically distant species or where there is high variability in terms of size (e.g. rodents), the results are likely to reflect species size. Alternatively, future analyses should be implemented using both raw and size-corrected data (Martinez et al., 2023a). Various proxies can be used to correct the surface area of turbinals for size, for example skull or condylobasal lengths, body mass, the volume of the nasal cavity, the surface area of all turbinals (respiratory and

olfactory turbinals) or the geometric mean (defined as $\sqrt{\text{skull length} \times \text{skull width}}$).

A final consideration should be the condition of the turbinals. As an example, for small mammals, the anterior part of the respiratory turbinals is generally damaged in museum skulls that have undergone manual skeletonisation. It may be very difficult to be certain that the anterior part is not damaged since it may extend to only a few milimeters. We therefore recommended checking these skull-based CT-data with at least one CT based on an ethanol-preserved head in order to confirm the morphology of respiratory turbinals in the most anterior part.

IX. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

At least five major limitations have hampered turbinalrelated studies: (*i*) the absence of clear turbinal homology between distant lineages; (*ii*) the absence of clear histological mapping of epithelia types along the turbinals of numerous clades; (*iii*) the difficulty of sampling specimens destructively (before the advent of CT technology); (*iv*) the low number of scans from constrast-enhancement stained specimens (e.g. diceCT) available for non-mammalian species; and (*v*) the fact that CT segmentation is labour intensive and time-consuming.

In recent years, diceCT data have become increasingly available due to initiatives such as the open Vertebrate Thematic Collections Network (Blackburn *et al.*, 2024). Advances in such methodologies (Metscher, 2009; Pauwels et al., 2013; Gignac et al., 2016; Gabner et al., 2020) have allowed efficient estimation of gross nasal epithelial cover (Yohe, Hoffmann & Curtis, 2018; Yohe et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2021b). As an example, the olfactory epithelium (or mucosa) of the olfactory turbinals is known to be thicker than non-olfactory epithelium (e.g. Negus, 1958) and Smith et al. (2021a,b) demonstrated that this difference is also visible with diceCT data and can be distinguished, isolated and quantified (Fig. 8). More recently, Smith et al. (2022) demonstrated that this methodology can also be applied to the venous system associated with the turbinals. This represents a huge step forward, allowing new investigations. As an example, Parsons (1971b, p. 332) noted for the olfactory epithelium of turtles, that: 'It would be extremely difficult to measure the surface area of such a complex cavity accurately' (see also Paulli, 1900a, b, c). Smith *et al.* (2022) recommended using classical histology for at least one specimen in order to compare it with the diceCT data to prevent invalid extrapolations. In the near future, deep-learning technology may considerably reduce segmentation time (e.g. Lösel et al., 2020; Herbst et al., 2021). Therefore, a strong focus may be placed developmental and comparative histology on (or related methods) in order to improve our knowledge about turbinal homology and the epithelial covering of the different areas.

From a functional perspective, the task remains huge. For decades, findings about the absolute and relative size of various olfactory-related structures from the nasal cavity (including olfactory turbinals) have been interpreted in the light of potential olfactory capabilities (e.g. see discussion in Smith et al., 2004). However, as for many other anatomical structures, clear functional correlates remain rare. A similar statement may be made for more recent work using turbinal data (e.g. Van Valkenburgh et al., 2004, 2011, 2014; Green et al., 2012; Martinez et al., 2018, 2020, 2023b; Wagner & Ruf, 2019, 2021; Yohe et al., 2022). To our knowledge, no study has yet tested the potential relationship between olfactory performance [e.g. olfactory sensitivity and olfactory discrimination (see Laska, 2017, and Martinez et al., 2024a)] and the various metrics related to olfactory turbinals. It must be an urgent priority to study the co-variation and the potential relations between the different olfactoryrelated proxies (see Section II.6.b). In addition to the potential proxies we discussed previously (e.g. olfactory epithelium cover, receptor density, receptive range, degree of neural connectivity, number and expression levels of functional OR genes), it would also be useful to study turbinal shape in relation to airflow dynamics (e.g. Craven et al., 2010; Ranslow et al., 2014; Bourke & Witmer, 2016; Pang et al., 2016). As an example, in phyllostomid bats, the size of the olfactory recess (Eiting et al., 2014b) impacts olfactory detection whereas there is no clear link between the pattern of airflow in the nasal cavity and foraging ecology (Eiting, Perot & Dumont, 2015). Due to the difficulty of finding homologous landmarks on the turbinals, only one

study has attempted to quantify morphological changes in turbinals using geometric morphometrics (Curtis *et al.*, 2020). Such works could unlock new perspectives: for example, some turbinal variation may be associated with other functions such as redirecting the air or even participating in nasophonation [= nasal echolocation (Curtis & Simmons, 2017; Curtis *et al.*, 2020)]. Such issues regarding function also apply to the respiratory turbinals and to the respiratory process itself, involving heat and moisture conservation as well as protection of the lower respiratory tract.

X. CONCLUSIONS

(1) We reviewed the current state of knowledge on turbinals in tetrapods and provide synonyms and correspondences of turbinals from about 80 publications. This review aims to provide a complete toolbox for future work on turbinals and more generally on the tetrapod skull.

(2) Future efforts should focus on the understanding of turbinal homology, first for early developmental stages and then comparing these with adults. A particular focus should be given to non-mammalian species where turbinal homology remains poorly understood. Evolutionary developmental studies may also help to clarify if turbinals have evolved convergently in mammals and birds.

(3) From a functional perspective, the epithelial cover of the turbinals need to be mapped in species from different clades. This is key to assigning the different turbinals to their functional category and therefore to be able to use them in quantitative analyses. The development of contrast-enhancement staining methods (e.g. diceCT), now allow this to be carried out relatively easily.

(4) We recommend that future research tests directly the functional significance of the turbinals. This may be addressed by testing potential correlations with performance as well as with other potential proxies. For the surface area of the olfactory turbinals, correlations may be tested with olfactory sensitivity and discrimination capabilities. Other potential proxies for consideration may be the extent of olfactory epithelium, receptor density, degree of receptive range of the olfactory receptors, degree of neural connectivity, as well as genomic proxies such as the number of functional olfactory receptor genes, their composition and their expression levels. For the respiratory turbinals, studies should also consider other proxies such as ventilation rate and gap width of the respiratory tract.

(5) With the recent technological innovations, we are able to explore these peculiar structures as never before. This is also sparking renewed interest in turbinals as well as in comparative anatomy in general. As stated by Van Valkenburg, Smith & Craven (2014, p. 1982): 'it is an especially exciting time to study the nose'. Almost a decade later, the same smell is in the air.

XI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledge l'Agence Nationale de la Recherche (Défi des autres savoirs, Grants DS10, ANR-17-CE02-0005 RHINOGRAD 2017, to P.-H. F.), the 'Projets Exploratoires Premier Soutien (PEPS), adaptation, adaptabilite (shrewnose)', the Synthesis of Systematic Resources (SYNTHESYS+) project, which is financed by European Community Research Infrastructure Action (Grants GB-TAF-1316, 5737 and 6945 to the National History Museum, London), the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF; Project KI-Morph 05D2022) and the Alexander von Humboldt foundation that funded this research (to Q, M. FRA-1222365-HFST-P.). We acknowledge the MRI platform member of the national infrastructure France-BioImaging supported by the French National Research Agency (ANR-10-INBS-04, 'Investments for the future'), the labex CEMEB (ANR-10-LABX-0004) and NUMEV (ANR-10-LABX-0020). We also thanks R. P. Miguez and V. Fernandez for access to specimen NHMUK 66 3432 and the CT-scan facilities. For Fig. 10, the authors sincerely thank those who donated their bodies to science so that anatomical research could be performed - results from such research can potentially increase mankind's knowledge ultimately to improve patient care. Therefore, these donors and their families deserve our highest gratitude. We acknowledge the 'Réseau d'Histologie Expérimentale de Montpellier' – RHEM facility for histology technics and expertise. RHEM facility is supported by SIRIC Montpellier Cancer Grant INCa_Inserm_DGOS_12553, REACT-EU (Recovery Assistance for Cohesion and the Territories of Europe), GIS FC3R whose funds are managed by Inserm, IBiSA, Ligue contre le cancer and Occitania Region. This is a contribution of ISEM 2024-168. Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

XII. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk $({}^{\ast})$ are cited only within the online Supporting Information.
- ALLEN, H. (1882). On a revision of the ethmoid bone in the Mammalia, with special reference to the description of this bone and of the sense of smelling in the Cheiroptera. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology at Harvard College 10, 135–171.
- AMSON, E., BILLET, G. & MUIZON, C. (2018). Evolutionary adaptation to aquatic lifestyle in extinct sloths can lead to systemic alteration of bone structure. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 285, 20180270.
- ARAÚJO, R., DAVID, R., BENOIT, J., LUNGMUS, J. K., STOESSEL, A., BARRETT, P. M., MAISANO, J. A., EKDALE, E., ORLIAC, M., LUO, Z.-X., MARTINELLI, A. G., HOFFMAN, E. A., SIDOR, C. A., MARTINS, R. M. S., SPOOR, F., *ET AL.* (2022). Inner ear biomechanics reveals a Late Triassic origin for mammalian endothermy. *Nature* **7920**, 726–731.
- BAKER, M. A. & HAYWARD, J. N. (1968). The influence of the nasal mucosa and the carotid rete upon hypothalamic temperature in sheep. *The Journal of Physiology* 198, 561–579.
- *BANG, B. G. (1961). The surface pattern of the nasal mucosa and its relation to mucous flow-a study of chicken and herring gull nasal mucosae. *Journal of Morphology* **109**, 57–71.
- BANG, B. G. (1965). Anatomical adaptations for olfaction in the snow petrel. Nature 205, 513–515.
- BANG, B. G. (1966). The olfactory apparatus of tubenosed birds (Procellariiformes). Cells, Tissues, Organs 65, 391–415.

- BANG, B. G. (1971). Functional anatomy of the olfactory system in 23 orders of birds. Acta Anatomica 58, 1–76.
- BARRIOS, A. W., NÚÑEZ, G., SÁNCHEZ QUINTEIRO, P. & SALAZAR, I. (2014). Anatomy, histochemistry, and immunohistochemistry of the olfactory subsystems in mice. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy* 8, 63.
- BELLAIRS, A. D. (1949). Observations on the snout of Varanus, and a comparison with that of other lizards and snakes. Journal of Anatomy 83, 116–146.
- *BELLAIRS, A. D. & JENKIN, C. R. (1960). The skeleton of Birds. In *Biology and Comparative Physiology of Birds* (Volume 1, ed. MARSHALL), pp. 241–300. Academic Press, New York.
- *BELLAIRS, A. D.'A. & JENKI, C. R. (1950). The lachrymal apparatus in lizards and snakes.—II. The anterior part of the lachrymal duct and its relationship with the palate and with the nasal and vomeronasal organs. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society* of London **120**, 269–310.
- *BELLAIRS, A. D'A. & KAMAL, A. (1981). The chondrocranium and development of the skull. In *Biology of the Reptilia, Volume 11, Morphology*, pp. 1–264. Academic Press, New York.
- BERNSTEIN, P. (1999). Morphology of the nasal capsule of *Heloderma suspectum* with comments on the systematic position of helodermatids (Squamata: Helodermatidae). *Acta Zoologica* **80**, 219–230.
- BERTA, A., EKDALE, E. G. & CRANFORD, T. W. (2014). Review of the cetaccan nose: form, function, and evolution. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2205–2215.
- *BERTAU, M. (1935). Zur Entwicklungsgeschichte des Geruchsorgans der Krokodile. Zeitschrift für Anatomie und Entwicklungsgeschichte 104, 168–202.
- BLACKBURN, D. C., BOYER, D. M., GRAY, J. A., WINCHESTER, J., BATES, J. M., BAUMGART, S. L., BRAKER, E., COLDREN, D., CONWAY, K. W., RABOSKY, A. D., DE LA SANCHA, N., DILLMAN, C. B., DUNNUM, J. L., EARLY, C. M., FRABLE, B. W., *ET AL.* (2024). Increasing the impact of vertebrate scientific collections through 3D imaging: The openVertebrate (oVert) Thematic Collections Network. *BioScience* 74, 169–186.
- BORN, G. (1883). Die Plattenmodelliermethode. Archiv für Mikroskopische Anatomie 22(1), 584–599.
- BOURGERY, J. M. & JACOB, N. H. (1831). In Traité complet de l'anatomie de l'homme: comprenant la médecine opératoire, avec planches lithographiées d'après nature (Volume 5, ed. C. DELAUNAY), p. 182. Paris.
- BOURKE, J. M., RUGER PORTER, W., RIDGELY, R. C., LYSON, T. R., SCHACHNER, E. R., BELL, P. R. & WITMER, L. M. (2014). Breathing life into dinosaurs: tackling challenges of soft-tissue restoration and nasal airflow in extinct species: dinosaur nasal airflow. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2148–2186.
- BOURKE, J. M. & WITMER, L. M. (2016). Nasal conchae function as aerodynamic baffles: experimental computational fluid dynamic analysis in a Turkey nose (Aves: Galliformes). *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 234, 32–46.
- BRAUDE, S., HOLTZE, S., BEGALL, S., BRENMOEHL, J., BURDA, H., DAMMANN, P., DEL MARMOL, D., GORSHKOVA, E., HENNING, Y., HOEFLICH, A., HÖHN, A., JUNG, T., HAMO, D., SAHM, A., SHEBZUKHOV, Y., *ET Al.* (2021). Surprisingly long survival of premature conclusions about naked mole-rat biology. *Biological Reviews* 96, 376–393.
- BRINK, A. S. (1956). Speculations on some advanced mammalian characteristics in the higher mammal-like reptiles. *Palaeontologia Africana* 4, 77–95.
- BROCK, G. T. (1929). Memoirs: on the development of the skull of Leptodeira hotamboia. Journal of Cell Science s2-73, 289–331.
- BUFFENSTEIN, R., AMOROSO, V., ANDZIAK, B., AVDIEIEV, S., AZPURUA, J., BARKER, A. J., BENNETT, N. C., BRIEÑO-ENRÍQUEZ, M. A., BRONNER, G. N., COEN, C., DELANEY, M. A., DENGLER-CRISH, C. M., EDREY, Y. H., FAULKES, C. G., FRANKEL, D., *et al.* (2021). The naked truth: a comprehensive clarification and classification of current 'myths' in naked mole-rat biology. *Biological Reviews* 97, 115–140.
- BUFFENSTEIN, R. & JARVIS, J. U. M. (1985). Thermoregulation and metabolism in the smallest African gerbil, *Gerbillus pusillus*. *Journal of Zoology* 205, 107–121.
- BUFFENSTEIN, R. & YAHAV, S. (1991). Is the naked mole-rat Hererocephalus glaber an endothermic yet poikilothermic mammal? *Journal of Thermal Biology* 16, 227–232.
- BUONO, M. R., FERNÁNDEZ, M. S., FORDYCE, R. E. & REIDENBERG, J. S. (2015). Anatomy of nasal complex in the southern right whale, *Eubalaena australis* (Cetacea, Mysticeti). *Journal of Anatomy* 226, 81–92.
- BURCH, G. E. & WINSOR, T. (1944). Rate of insensible perspiration (diffusion of water) locally through living and through dead human skin. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 74, 437–444.
- CAPUTA, M. (1979). Temperature gradients in the nasal cavity of the rabbit. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **4**, 283–286.
- CARDONA, A., SAALFELD, S., PREIBISCH, S., SCHMID, B., CHENG, A., PULOKAS, J., TOMANCAK, P. & HARTENSTEIN, V. (2010). An integrated micro- and macroarchitectural analysis of the *Drosophila* brain by computer-assisted serial section electron microscopy. *PLoS Biology* 8, e1000502.
- CHARLES, C., SOLÉ, F., RODRIGUES, H. G. & VIRIOT, L. (2013). Under pressure? Dental adaptations to termitophagy and vermivory among mammals. *Evolution* 67, 1792–1804.

- CHRISTMAS, M. J., KAPLOW, I. M., GENEREUX, D. P., DONG, M. X., HUGHES, G. M., LI, X., SULLIVAN, P. F., HINDLE, A. G., ANDREWS, G., ARMSTRONG, J. C., BIANCHI, M., BREIT, A. M., DIEKHANS, M., FANTER, C., FOLEY, N. M., *ET AL.* (2023). Evolutionary constraint and innovation across hundreds of placental mammals. *Science* 380, eabn3943.
- COLLINS, J. C., PILKINGTON, T. C. & SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K. (1971). A model of respiratory heat transfer in a small mammal. *Biophysical Journal* 11, 886–914.
- CRAVEN, B. A., PATERSON, E. G. & SETTLES, G. S. (2010). The fluid dynamics of canine olfaction: unique nasal airflow patterns as an explanation of macrosmia. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 7, 933–943.
- CROMPTON, A. W., OWERKOWICZ, T., BHULLAR, B.-A. S. & MUSINSKY, C. (2017). Structure of the nasal region of non-mammalian cynodonts and mammaliaforms: speculations on the evolution of mammalian endothermy. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 37, e1269116.
- CURTIS, A. & SIMMONS, N. B. (2017). Unique turbinal morphology in horseshoe bats (Chiroptera: Rhinolophidae). *The Anatomical Record* 300, 309–325.
- CURTIS, A. A., SMITH, T. D., BHATNAGAR, K. P., BROWN, A. M. & SIMMONS, N. B. (2020). Maxilloturbinal aids in nasophonation in horseshoe bats (Chiroptera: Rhinolophidae). *The Anatomical Record* **303**, 110–128.
- CZUBAK, A. S. (2013). Vergleichend-anatomische Analyse des Riechmuschelskeletts und der Sinus paranasales von Caenomeryx und Cainotherium (*Cainotheriidae*, *Cetartiodactyla*). Unpublished Diploma Thesis: Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn.
- DAWES, J. D. K. (1952). The course of the nasal airstreams. The Journal of Laryngology & Otology 66, 583–593.
- DE BEER, G. R. (1929). IX. The development of the skull of the shrew. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character* 217, 411–480.
- DE BEER, G. R. (1937). The Development of the Vertebrate Skull. Oxford University Press, London.
- *DE BEER, G. R. & BARRINGTON, E. J. W. (1934). IX. The segmentation and chondrification of the skull of the duck. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character* 223, 411–467.
- DELEON, V. B. & SMITH, T. D. (2014). Mapping the nasal airways: using histology to enhance ct-based three-dimensional reconstruction in *Nycticebus*. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2113–2120.
- *DIEULAFÉ, L. (1905). Les fosses nasales des vertébrés (morphologie et embryologie). *Journal of Anatomy and Physiology.* 41, 102–112.
- *DIEULAFE, L. (1906). Morphology and embryology of the nasal fossae of vertebrates. Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology 15, 1–584.
- DILKES, D. W. (1993). Biology and evolution of the nasal region in trematopid amphibians. *Palaeontology* 36, 839–853.
- DOMNING, D. P. & DE BUFFRÉNIL, V. (1991). Hydrostasis in the Sirenia: quantitative data and functional interpretations. *Marine Manunal Science* 7, 331–368.
- EISTHEN, H. L., SENGELAUB, D. R., SCHROEDER, D. M. & ALBERTS, J. R. (1994). Anatomy and forebrain projections of the olfactory and vomeronasal organs in axolotls (*Ambystoma mexicanum*). Brain, Behavior and Evolution 44, 108–116.
- EITING, T., SMITH, T., PEROT, J. & DUMONT, E. (2014b). The role of the olfactory recess in olfactory airflow. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* **217**, 1799–1803.
- EITING, T. P., PEROT, J. B. & DUMONT, E. R. (2015). How much does nasal cavity morphology matter? Patterns and rates of olfactory airflow in phyllostomid bats. *Proceedings of the Rayal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282, 20142161.
- EITING, T. P., SMITH, T. D. & DUMONT, E. R. (2014a). Olfactory epithelium in the olfactory recess: a case study in new world leaf-nosed bats. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2105–2112.
- EKBERG, J. A. K., AMAYA, D., CHEHREHASA, F., LINEBURG, K., CLAXTON, C., WINDUS, L. C. E., KEY, B., MACKAY-SIM, A. & ST JOHN, J. A. (2011). OMP-ZsGreen fluorescent protein transgenic mice for visualisation of olfactory sensory neurons in vivo and in vitro. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* **196**, 88–98.
- FAHLKE, J. M., GINGERICH, P. D., WELSH, R. C. & WOOD, A. R. (2011). Cranial asymmetry in Eocene archaeocete whales and the evolution of directional hearing in water. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108, 14545–14548.
- FARNKOPF, I.C. (2022). The Olfactory Anatomy and Upper Respiratory Tracts of Whales, Dolphins, and their Terrestrial Relatives: Perspectives from Morphology, Histology, Embryology, and Evolutionary Biology. Doctoral Dissertation: Kent State University.
- FARNKOPF, I. C., GEORGE, J. C., KISHIDA, T., HILLMANN, D. J., SUYDAM, R. S. & THEWISSEN, J. G. M. (2022). Olfactory epithelium and ontogeny of the nasal chambers in the bowhead whale (*Balaena mysticetus*). *The Anatomical Record* 305, 643–667.
- FAWCETT (1919). The primordial cranium of *Minioptenus schreibersi* at the 17 millimetre total length stage. *Journal of Anatomy* 53(315–350), 37.
- FAWCETT, E. (1917). The primordial cranium of *Microtus amphibius* (water-rat), as determined by sections and a model of the 25-mm stage with comparative remarks. *Journal of Anatomy* 51, 309–359.

- FAWCETT, E. (1918). The primordial cranium of Erinaceus europæus. Journal of Anatomy 52, 211–250.
- FAWCETT, E. (1921). The primordial cranium of *Tatusia novemcincta* as determined by sections and models of the embryos of 12 millimetre and 17 millimetre C.R. length. *Journal of Anatomy* 55, 187–219.
- FERNICOLA, J. C., TOLEDO, N., BARGO, M. S. & VIZCAÍNO, S. F. (2012). A neomorphic ossification of the nasal cartilages and the structure of paranasal sinus system of the glyptodont *Neosclerocalyptus* Paula Couto 1957 (Mammalia, Xenarthra). *Palaeontologia Electronica* 15, 1–22.
- FISCHER, E. (1901). Das Primordialcranium von Talpa europaea: Ein Beitrag zur Morphologie des Säugetierschädels. Beiträge und Referate zur Anatomie und Entwickelungsgeschichte 17, 468–548.
- FOLKOW, L. P., BLIX, A. S. & EIDE, T. J. (1988). Anatomical and functional aspects of the nasal mucosal and ophthalmic retia of phocid seals. *Journal of Zoology* 216, 417–436.
- FRANCO, A. S., MÜLLER, R. T., MARTINELLI, A. G., HOFFMANN, C. A. & KERBER, L. (2021). The nasal cavity of two traversodontid cynodonts (Eucynodontia, Gomphodontia) from the Upper Triassic of Brazil. *Journal of Paleontology* **95**, 845–860.
- *FREYER, C. (1999). Die Regio ethmoidalis in der Ontogenese von Monodelphis domestica (Didelphidae: Marsupialia): ein Beitrag zur Rekonstruktion des Grundplanes der Marsupialia mit Befunden zur Regio ethmoidalis in Einzelstadien von Didelphis marsupialis (Didelphidae: Marsupialia) und Thylacinus cymocephalus (Thylacinidae: Marsupialia). MS Thesis: Humboldt Universität, Berlin, Germany.
- FRICK, H. (1954). Die Entwicklung and Morphologie des Chondrokraniums von Myotis Kaup. Thieme, Stuttgart.
- GABE, M. & SAINT GIRONS, H. (1973). Contribution à l'histologie des glandes nasales externes de Sphenodon punctatus Gray (Reptilia, Rhynchocephalia). Cells, Tissues, Organs 84, 452–464.
- GABNER, S., BÖCK, P., FINK, D., GLÖSMANN, M. & HANDSCHUH, S. (2020). The visible skeleton 2.0: phenotyping of cartilage and bone in fixed vertebrate embryos and foetuses based on X-ray microCT. *Development* 147, 11.
- *GANESHINA, L. V., VORONTSOV, N. N. & CHABOVSKY, V. I. (1957). Comparative morphological study of the nasal cavity structure in certain representatives of the order Insectivora. *Zoologicheskii Zhurnal* 36, 122–138.
- *GARDINER, B. G. (1982). Tetrapod classification. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 74, 207–232.
- GAUPP, E. (1900). Das Chondrocranium von Lacerta agilis. Anatomische Hefte 15, 434–594.
- GAUTHIER, J., KLUGE, A. G. & ROWE, T. (1988). Amniote phylogeny and the importance of fossils. *Cladistics* 4, 105–209.
- *GEGENBAUR, C. (1873). Ueber die Nasenmuscheln der Vogel. Jenaische Zeitschrift f
 ür Medicin und Naturwissenschaft 7, 1–21.
- GEISLER, J. H., SANDERS, A. E. & LUO, Z.-X. (2005). A new protocetid whale (Cetacea: Archaeoceti) from the Late Middle Eocene of South Carolina. *American Museum Novitates* 3480, 1.
- GEIST, N. R. (2000). Nasal respiratory turbinate function in birds. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology: Ecological and Evolutionary Approaches* 73, 581–589.
- GENSCHOW, J. (1934). Über Den Bau Und Die Entwicklung Des Geruchsorganes Der Sirenen. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Ökologie der Tiere 28, 402–444.
- *GIANNINI, N. P., MACRINI, T. E., WIBLE, J. R., ROWE, T. B. & SIMMONS, N. B. (2012). The internal nasal skeleton of the bat *Pteropus lylei* K. Andersen, 1908 (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae). *Annals of Carnegie Museum* 81, 1–17.
- GIGNAC, P. M., KLEY, N. J., CLARKE, J. A., COLBERT, M. W., MORHARDT, A. C., CERIO, D., COST, I. N., COX, P. G., DAZA, J. D., EARLY, C. M., ECHOLS, M. S., HENKELMAN, R. M., HERDINA, A. N., HOLLIDAY, C. M., LI, Z., *ET AL.* (2016). Diffusible iodine-based contrast-enhanced computed tomography (diceCT): an emerging tool for rapid, high-resolution, 3-D imaging of metazoan soft tissues. *Journal of Anatomy* 228, 889–909.
- GINGERICH, D., DOMNING, P., BLANE, C. E. & UHEN, M. D. (1994). Cranial Morphology of Protosiren fraasi (Mammalia, Sirenia) from the Middle Eocene of Egypt: A New Study using Computed Tomography, Edition (Volume 29), pp. 41–67. Museum of Paleontology, University of Michigan, Michigan.
- GÖBBEL, L. (2000). The external nasal cartilages in Chiroptera: significance for intraordinal relationships. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* 7, 35.
- GODFREY, S. J., GEISLER, J. & FITZGERALD, E. M. G. (2013). On the olfactory anatomy in an archaic whale (Protocetidae, Cetacea) and the minke whale Balaenoptera acutorostrata (Balaenopteridae, Cetacea). The Anatomical Record 296, 257–272.
- GRAZIADEI, P. P. C. & MONTI GRAZIADEI, G. A. (1978). Continuous nerve cell renewal in the olfactory system. In *Development of Sensory Systems* (eds C. M. BATE, V. MCM, P. P. C. CARR, H. V. B. GRAZIADEI, A. HIRSCH, D. HUGHES, A. G. INGLE, G. A. M. LEVENTHAI, E. W. GRAZIADEI, R. RUBEL, A. B. SAXOD, M. E. SCHEIEEL, J. S. SCHEIBEL and M. JACOBSON), pp. 55–83. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

- GREEN, P. A., VALKENBURGH, B., PANG, B., BIRD, D., ROWE, T. & CURTIS, A. (2012). Respiratory and olfactory turbinal size in canid and arctoid carnivorans. *Journal of Anatomy* 221, 609–621.
- *GURTOVOI, N. N. (1966). Ecological-morphological differences in the structure of the nasal cavity in the representatives of the orders Insectivora, Chiroptera, and Rodentia. Zoologicheskii Zhurnal 45, 1536–1550.
- HANSEN, A. (2007). Olfactory and solitary chemosensory cells: two different chemosensory systems in the nasal cavity of the American alligator. *Alligator* mississippiensis. BMC Neuroscience 8, 64.
- HARKEMA, J. R., CAREY, S. A. & WAGNER, J. G. (2006). The nose revisited: a brief review of the comparative structure, function, and toxicologic pathology of the nasal epithelium. *Toxicologic Pathology* 34, 252–269.
- *HARKEMA, J. R., CAREY, S. A., WAGNER, J. G., DINTZIS, S. M. & LIGGITT, D. (2012). 6-nose, sinus, pharynx, and larynx. In *Comparative Anatomy and Histology* (eds P. M. TREUTING and S. M. DINTZIS), pp. 71–94. Academic Press, San Diego.
- HARKEMA, J. R. & MORGAN, K. T. (1996). Normal morphology of the nasal passages in laboratory rodents. In *Respiratory System* (eds T. C. JONES, D. L. DUNGWORTH and U. MOHR), pp. 3–17. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- HAUTIER, L., GARLAND, K., FERREIRA-CARDOSO, S., WRIGHT, M., MARTINEZ, Q., FABRE, P.-H., LEBRUN, R. & FREDERIC, D. (2019). Sniffing out covariation patterns in the olfactory system of myrmecophagous mammals. In *International Congress of Vertebrate Morphology (ICVM)*. Prague.
- HAYDEN, S., BEKAERT, M., GOODBLA, A., MURPHY, W. J., DÁVALOS, L. M. & TEELING, E. C. (2014). A cluster of olfactory receptor genes linked to frugivory in bats. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **31**, 917–927.
- HERBERT, R. A., JANARDHAN, K. S., PANDIRI, A. R., CESTA, M. F. & MILLER, R. A. (2018). Nose, larynx, and trachea. In *Booman's Pathology of the Rat*, Second Edition (), pp. 391–435. Academic Press; Elsevier, Chantilly, VA.
- HERBST, E. C., FELDER, A. A., EVANS, L. A. E., AJAMI, S., JAVAHERI, B. & PITSILLIDES, A. A. (2021). A new straightforward method for semi-automated segmentation of trabecular bone from cortical bone in diverse and challenging morphologies. *Royal Society Open Science* 8, 210408.
- HERNANDEZ, A. K., LANDIS, B., ALTUNDAG, A., FJAELDSTAD, A. W., GANE, S., HOLBROOK, E. H., HUART, C., KONSTANTINIDIS, I., LECHNER, M., MACCHI, A., MAZAL, P. P., MIWA, T., PHILPOTT, C. M., PINTO, J. M., POLETTI, S. C., *ET AL.* (2023). Olfactory nomenclature: an orchestrated effort to clarify terms and definitions of dysosmia, anosmia, hyposmia, normosmia, hyperosmia, olfactory intolerance, parosmia, and phantosmia/olfactory hallucination. ORL: Journal for Otorhinolarymgology and Its Related Specialties 85, 312–320.
- HILDEBRAND, J. G. & SHEPHERD, G. M. (1997). Mechanisms of olfactory discrimination: converging evidence from common principles across phyla. *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 20, 595–631.
- HILLENIUS, W. J. (1992). The evolution of nasal turbinates and mammalian endothermy. *Paleobiology* 18, 17–29.
- HILLENIUS, W. J. (1994). Turbinates in therapsids: evidence for Late Permian origins of mammalian endothermy. *Evolution* 48, 207–229.
- HILLENIUS, W. J. & RUBEN, J. A. (2004). The evolution of endothermy in terrestrial vertebrates: who? when? why? *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 77, 1019–1042.
- HISLOP, M. S. & BUFFENSTEIN, R. (1994). Noradrenaline induces nonshivering thermogenesis in both the naked mole-rat (*Heterocephalus glaber*) and the Damara mole-rat (*Cryptomys damarensis*) despite very different modes of thermoregulation. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 19, 25–32.
- HOFER, H. O. (1980). The external anatomy of the oro-nasal region of primates. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Anthropologie 71, 233–249.
- HOGAN, A. V. C., WATANABE, A., BALANOFF, A. M. & BEVER, G. S. (2020). Comparative growth in the olfactory system of the developing chick with considerations for evolutionary studies. *Journal of Anatomy* 237, 225–240.
- *HOPPE, G. (1934). Das Geruchsorgan von Hatteria punctata. Zeitschrift für Anatomie und Entwicklungsgeschichte 102, 434–461.
- HÜRZELER, J. (1936). Osteologie und odontologie der Caenotheriden. Abhandlungen der Schweizerischen Palaeontologischen Gesellschaft 58, 1–89.
- ICHISHIMA, H. (2016). The ethmoid and presphenoid of cetaceans. Journal of Morphology 277, 1661–1674.
- *ICVGAN (2017). International Committee on Veterinary Gross Anatomical Nomenclature (ICVGAN).
- *IOANA, A. N. (1970). Etude comparative des comets nasaux chez: Talpa europaea L., et Neonys fodiens Schreb. (Ord. Insectivora) de Roumanie. Travaux du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle Grigore Antipa 10, 359–363.
- ITO, K., KODEARA, R., KOYASU, K., MARTINEZ, Q. & KOYABU, D. (2022). The development of nasal turbinal morphology of moles and shrews. *Vertebrate Zoology* 72, 857–881.
- ITO, K., TU, V. T., EITING, T. P., NOJIRI, T. & KOYABU, D. (2021). On the embryonic development of the nasal turbinals and their homology in bats. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 9, 379.
- JACKSON, D. C. & SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K. (1964). Countercurrent heat exchange in the respiratory passages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 51, 1192–1197.

- JEFFERY, W. R. (2005). Adaptive evolution of eye degeneration in the Mexican blind cavefish. *Journal of Heredity* 96, 185–196.
- JIN, E. H., PENG, K. M., WANG, J. A., DU, A. N., TANG, L., WEI, L., WANG, Y., LI, S. H. & SONG, H. (2008). Study of the morphology of the olfactory organ of African ostrich chick. *Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia* 37, 161–165.
- KALUZA, J. F., GUSSING, F., BOHM, S., BREER, H. & STROTMANN, J. (2004). Olfactory receptors in the mouse septal organ. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 76, 442–452.
- KAUPP, U. B. (2010). Olfactory signalling in vertebrates and insects: differences and commonalities. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 11, 188–200.
- KEPPELER, H., SCHULTZ, J. A., RUF, I. & MARTIN, T. (2023). Cranial anatomy of *Hypisodus minimus* (Artiodactyla: Ruminantia) from the Oligocene Brule Formation of North America. *Palaeontographica Abteilung A* 327, 55–92.
- KERMACK, K. A., MUSSETT, F. & RIGNEY, H. W. (1981). The skull of Morganucodon. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 71, 1–158.
- KIRK, E. C. & LUNDEEN, I. K. (2020). New observations of the nasal fossa and interorbital region of *Shoshonius cooperi* based on microcomputerized tomography. *Journal of Human Evolution* 141, 102748.
- KOENIGSWALD, W. V., RUF, I. & GINGERICH, P. D. (2009). Cranial morphology of a new apatemyid, *Carcinella sigei* n. gen. n. sp. (Mammalia, Apatotheria) from the late Eocene of southern France. *Palaeontographica Abteilung A* 288, 53–91.
- KOWALEWSKY, S., DAMBACH, M., MAUCK, B. & DEHNHARDT, G. (2006). High olfactory sensitivity for dimethyl sulphide in harbour seals. *Biology Letters* 2, 106–109.
- *KURAMOTO, K., NISHIDA, T. & MOCHIZUKI, K. (1980). Morphological studies on the nasal turbinates of the musk shrew (Suncus murinus riukuanus). Japanese Journal of Veterinary Science 42, 377–380.
- LAASS, M., HAMPE, O., SCHUDACK, M., HOFF, C., KARDJILOV, N. & HILGER, A. (2011). New insights into the respiration and metabolic physiology of *Lystrosaurus*. *Acta Zoologica* **92**, 363–371.
- LAASS, M. & KAESTNER, A. (2023). Nasal turbinates of the dicynodont Kawingasaurus fossilis and the possible impact of the fossorial habitat on the evolution of endothermy. Journal of Morphology 284, e21621.
- LAHTI, D. C., JOHNSON, N. A., AJIE, B. C., OTTO, S. P., HENDRY, A. P., BLUMSTEIN, D. T., COSS, R. G., DONOHUE, K. & FOSTER, S. A. (2009). Relaxed selection in the wild. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 487–496.
- *LANG, C. (1955). Beiträge zur Entwicklungsgeschichte des Kopfskelettes von Melopsittacus undulatus. Gegenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch 94, 335–390.
- LANGMAN, V. A. (1985). Nasal heat exchange in a northern ungulate, the reindeer (Rangifer tarandus). Respiration Physiology 59, 279–287.
- LANGMAN, V. A., SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, G. M. K., SCHROTER, R. C. & MALOIY, G. M. O. (1978). Respiratory water and heat loss in camels subjected to dehydration. *Journal of Physiology* 278, 35.
- *LAROCHELLE, R. & BARON, G. (1989). Comparative morphology and morphometry of the nasal fossae of four species of North American shrews (Soricinae). *American Journal of Anatomy* 186, 306–314.
- LASKA, M. (2005). The number of functional olfactory receptor genes and the relative size of olfactory brain structures are poor predictors of olfactory discrimination performance with enantiomers. *Chemical Senses* **30**, 171–175.
- LASKA, M. (2017). Human and animal olfactory capabilities compared. In Springer Handbook of Odor (ed A. BUETTNER), pp. 171–175. Springer, Cham.
- LE GROS CLARK, W. E. (1951). The projection of the olfactory epithelium on the olfactory bulb in the rabbit. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry* 14, 1–10.
- *LE GROS CLARK, W. E. (1959). The Antecedents of Man. Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh.
- LESTER, C. W. & COSTA, D. P. (2006). Water conservation in fasting northern elephant seals (*Mirounga angustirostris*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209, 4283– 4294.
- LILLEGRAVEN, J. A. & KRUSAT, G. (1991). Cranio-mandibular anatomy of *Haldanodon exspectatus* (Docodonta; Mammalia) from the late Jurassic of Portugal and its implications to the evolution of mammalian characters. *Rocky Mountain Geology* 28, 39–138.
- LÖSEL, P. D., MONCHANIN, C., LEBRUN, R., JAYME, A., RELLE, J., DEVAUD, J.-M., HEUVELINE, V. & LIHOREAU, M. (2023). Natural variability in bee brain size and symmetry revealed by micro-CT imaging and deep learning. *PLoS Computational Biology* 19, e1011529.
- LÖSEL, P. D., VAN DE KAMP, T., JAYME, A., ERSHOV, A., FARAGÓ, T., PICHLER, O., TAN JEROME, N., AADEPU, N., BREMER, S., CHILINGARYAN, S. A., HEETHOFF, M., KOPMANN, A., ODAR, J., SCHMELZLE, S., ZUBER, M., *ET AL.* (2020). Introducing Biomedisa as an open-source online platform for biomedical image segmentation. *Nature Communications* **11**, 5577.
- LUNDEEN, I. K. & KAY, R. F. (2022). Unique nasal turbinal morphology reveals *Homunculus patagonicus* functionally converged on modern platyrrhine olfactory sensitivity. *Journal of Human Evolution* **167**, 103184.
- LUNDEEN, I. K. & KIRK, E. C. (2019). Internal nasal morphology of the Eocene primate *Rooneyia viejaensis* and extant Euarchonta: using µCT scan data to understand and infer patterns of nasal fossa evolution in primates. *Journal of Human Evolution* 132, 137–173.

- MACRINI, T. (2012). Comparative morphology of the internal nasal skeleton of adult marsupials based on X-ray computed tomography. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* 365, 1–91.
- MACRINI, T. E. (2014). Development of the ethmoid in *Caluromys philander* (Didelphidae, Marsupialia) with a discussion on the homology of the turbinal elements in marsupials. *The Anatomical Record* **297**, 2007–2017.
- MACRINI, T. E., HOPWOOD, J., HERBERT, C. A. & WEISBECKER, V. (2023). Development of the ethmoid in a wallaby and implications for the homology of turbinal elements in marsupials. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 378, 20220082.
- MAIER, W. (1980). Nasal structures in old and New World Primates. In *Evolutionary Biology of the New World Monkeys and Continental Drift* (eds R. L. CIOCHON and A. B. CHIARELLI), pp. 219–241. Springer US, Boston.
- MAIER, W. (1993). Cranial morphology of the therian common ancestor, as suggested by the adaptations of neonate marsupials. In *Manmal Phylogeny: Mesozoic Differentiation, Multituberculates, Monotremes, Early Therians, and Marsupials* (eds F. S. SZALAY, M. J. NOVACEK and M. C. MCKENNA), pp. 165–181. Springer, New York.
- MATER, W. (2000). Ontogeny of the nasal capsule in cercopithecoids: a contribution to the comparative and evolutionary morphology of catarrhines. In *Old World Monkeys*, pp. 99–132. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MAIER, W. (2020). A neglected part of the mammalian skull: the outer nasal cartilages as progressive remnants of the chondrocranium. *Vertebrate Zoology* 70, 367–382.
- MAIER, W. & RUF, I. (2014). Morphology of the nasal capsule of primates—with special reference to *Daubentonia* and *Homo. The Anatomical Record* 297, 1985–2006.
- *MARTIN, R. D. (1990). Primate Origins and Evolution. A Phylogenetic Reconstruction. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- MARTINEZ, Q., AMSON, E. & LASKA, M. (2024a). Is 'bigger' really 'better'? The number of functional olfactory receptor genes is a poor predictor of olfactory sensitvity and discrimination performance in mammals. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 37, 238–247.
- MARTINEZ, Q., CLAVEL, J., ESSELSTYN, J. A., ACHMADI, A. S., GROHÉ, C., PIROT, N. & FABRE, P.-H. (2020). Convergent evolution of olfactory and thermoregulatory capacities in small amphibious mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117, 8958–8965.
- MARTINEZ, Q., COURCELLE, M., DOUZERY, E. & FABRE, P.-H. (2023a). When morphology does not fit the genomes: the case of rodent olfaction. *Biology Letters* 19, 20230080.
- MARTINEZ, Q., LEBRUN, R., ACHMADI, A. S., ESSELSTYN, J. A., EVANS, A. R., HEANEY, L. R., MIGUEZ, R. P., ROWE, K. C. & FABRE, P.-H. (2018). Convergent evolution of an extreme dietary specialisation, the olfactory system of worm-eating rodents. *Scientific Reports* 8, 17806.
- MARTINEZ, Q., OKROUHLÍK, J., SUMBERA, R., WRIGHT, M., ARAÚJO, R., BRAUDE, S., HILDEBRANDT, T., HOLTZE, S., RUF, I. & FABRE, P.-H. (2023b). The mammalian maxilloturbinal evolution: when maxilloturbinal does not reflect thermal biology. *Nature Communications* 14, 4425.
- MARTINEZ, Q., WRIGHT, M., DUBOURGUIER, B., ITO, K., VAN DE KAMP, T., HAMANN, E., ZUBER, M., FERREIRA, G., BLANC, R., FABRE, P.-H., HAUTIER, L. & AMSON, E. (2024b). Turbinal bones disparity across placental mammals. *The Anatomical Record* in press. https://doi.org/10.1002/AR.25552.
- MASON, M. J., WENGER, L. M. D., HAMMER, Ø. & BLIX, A. S. (2020). Structure and function of respiratory turbinates in phocid seals. *Polar Biology* 43, 157–173.
- *MATTHES, E. (1934). Geruchsorgan. In Handbuch der Vergleichenden Anatomie der Wirbeltiere, pp. 879–948. Urban & Schwarzenberg, Berlin.
- MCNAB, B. K. (1966). The metabolism of fossorial rodents: a study of convergence. *Ecology* 47, 712–733.
- MELIN, A. D., VEILLEUX, C. C., JANIAK, M. C., HIRAMATSU, C., SÁNCHEZ-SOLANO, K. G., LUNDEEN, I. K., WEBB, S. E., WILLIAMSON, R. E., MAH, M. A., MURILLO-CHACON, E., SCHAFFNER, C. M., HERNÁNDEZ-SALAZAR, L., AURELI, F. & KAWAMURA, S. (2022). Anatomy and dietary specialization influence sensory behaviour among sympatric primates. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 289, 20220847.
- METSCHER, B. D. (2009). MicroCT for comparative morphology: simple staining methods allow high-contrast 3D imaging of diverse non-mineralized animal tissues. *BMC Physiology* 9, 11.
- MICHAELI, G. & PINSHOW, B. (2001). Respiratory water loss in free-flying pigeons. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 204, 3803–3814.
- *MICHELSSON, G. (1922). Das Chondrocranium des Igels (Erinaceus europaeus). Zeitschrift für Anatomie und Entwicklungsgeschichte 65, 509–543.
- *MIHALKOVICS, V. (1898). Nasenhohle und Jacobsonsches Organ. Eine morphologische Studie. Anat. Hefte 11, 1–107.
- *MOORE, W. J. (1981). *Mammalian skull*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MORGAN, K. T. & MONTICELLO, T. M. (1990). Airflow, gas deposition, and lesion
- distribution in the nasal passages. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **85**, 209–218. MOSHKIN, M. P., PETROVSKI, D. V., AKULOV, A. E., ROMASHCHENKO, A. V., GERLINSKAYA, L. A., GANIMEDOV, V. L., MUCHNAYA, M. I., SADOVSKY, A. S.,

KOPTYUG, I. V., SAVELOV, A. A., TROITSKY, S. Y., MOSHKN, Y. M., BUKHTIYAROV, V. I., KOLCHANOV, N. A., SAGDEEV, R. Z., *ET AL.* (2014). Nasal aerodynamics protects brain and lung from inhaled dust in subterranean diggers, *Ellobius talpinus. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20140919.

- MOZELL, M., KENT, P. F. & MURPHY, S. J. (1991). The effect of flow rate upon the magnitude of the olfactory response differs for different odorants. *Chemical Senses* 16, 631–649.
- *MULLER, H. J. (1961). Die Morphologie und Entwicklung des Craniums von Rhea americana Linne. I. Das knorpelige Neurocranium. Zeitschrift für Wissenschaftliche Zoologie 165, 221–319.
- NEGUS, V. (1958). The Comparative Anatomy and Physiology of the Nose and Paranasal Simuses. E. & S. Livingstone, Edinburgh. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0% 2C5&q=Negus%2C+V.+%281958%29.+The+Comparative+Anatomy+and+ Physiology+of+the+Nose+and+Paranasal+Sinuses+E.+%26+S.+Livingstone %2C+London.&btnG=.
- *NEMOURS, P. R. (1930). Studies on the accessory nasal sinuses: the comparative morphology of the nasal cavities of reptiles and birds. *The Annals of Otology, Rhinology, and Laryngology* **39**, 1086–1108.
- NUMMELA, S., HUSSAIN, S. T. & THEWISSEN, J. G. M. (2006). Cranial anatomy of Pakicetidae (Cetacea, Mammalia). *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 26, 746–759.
- O'BRIEN, H. D., FAITH, J. T., JENKINS, K. E., PEPPE, D. J., PLUMMER, T. W., JACOBS, Z. L., LI, B., JOANNES-BOYAU, R., PRICE, G., FENG, Y. & TRYON, C. A. (2016). Unexpected convergent evolution of nasal domes between Pleistocene bovids and Cretaceous hadrosaur dinosaurs. *Current Biology* 26, 503–508.
- *OWERKOWICZ, T., MUSINSKY, C., MIDDLETON, K. M. & CROMPTON, A. W. (2015). Respiratory Turbinates and the Evolution of Endothermy in Mammals and Birds. In *Great Transformations in Vertebrate Evolution*, pp. 143–166. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- PANG, B., YEE, K. K., LISCHKA, F. W., RAWSON, N. E., HASKINS, M. E., WYSOCKI, C. J., CRAVEN, B. A. & VAN VALKENBURGH, B. (2016). The influence of nasal airflow on respiratory and olfactory epithelial distribution in felids. *Journal* of Experimental Biology 219, 1866–1874.
- *PARKER, W. K. (1885). On the structure and development of the skull in the Mammalia. Transactions of the Royal Society of London 176, 1–119.
- PARSONS, T. S. (1959a). Studies on the comparative embryology of the reptilian nose. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology 120, 101–277.
- PARSONS, T. S. (1959b). Nasal anatomy and the phylogeny of reptiles. Evolution 13, 175–187.
- PARSONS, T. S. (1967). Evolution of the nasal structure in the lower tetrapods. American Zoologist 7, 397–413.
- *PARSONS, T. S. (1970). The nose and Jacobson's organ. In Biology of the Reptilia (Volume 2), pp. 99–191. Academic Press, New York.
- PARSONS, T. S. (1971*a*). Anatomy of nasal structures from a comparative viewpoint. In Olfaction (eds.J. E. AMOORE, M. G. J. BEETS, J. T. DAVIES, T. ENGEN, J. GARCIA, R. C. GESTELAND, P. P. C. GRAZIADEI, K.-E. KAISSLING, R. A. KOELLING, J. LEMAGNEN, P. MACLEOD, D. G. MOULTON, M. M. MOZELL, D. OTTOSON, T. S. PARSONS, *ET AL.*), pp. 1–26. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- PARSONS, T. S. (1971b). Nasal anatomy of trionychid turtles. Journal of Morphology 135, 323–333.
- PARSONS, T. S. & WILLIAMS, E. E. (1963). The relationships of the modern Amphibia: a re-examination. *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 38, 26–53.
- PAULLI, S. (1900a). Über die Pneumaticität des Schädels bei den Säugetieren. Eine morphologische Studie. I. Über den Bau des Siebbeins. Über die Morphologie des Siebbeins und die Pneumaticität bei den Monotremen und den Marsupialiern. Gegenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch 28, 147–178.
- PAULLI, S. (1900b). Über die Pneumaticität des Schädels bei den Säugetieren. Eine morphologische Studie. II. Über die Morphologie des Siebbeins und die Pneumaticität bei den Ungulaten und Probosciden. Gegenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch 28, 179–251.
- PAULLI, S. (1900c). Über die Pneumaticität des Schädels bei den Säugetieren. Eine morphologische Studie. III. Über die Morphologie des Siebbeins und die Pneumaticität bei den Insectivoren, Hyracoideen, Chiropteren, Carnivoren, Pinnipedien, Edentaten, Rodentiern, Prosimiern und Primaten, nebst einer zusammenfassenden Übersicht über die Morphologie des Siebbeins und die der Pneumaticität des Schädels bei den Säugetieren. Ggenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch 28, 438–564.
- PAUWELS, E., LOO, D. V., CORNILLE, P., BRABANT, L. & HOOREBEKE, L. V. (2013). An exploratory study of contrast agents for soft tissue visualization by means of high resolution X-ray computed tomography imaging. *Journal of Microscopy* 250, 21–31.
- *PEDZIWIATR, Z. F. (1972). Das Siebbeinlabyrinth. II. Differenzierung und Systematik der Hauptmuschel bein einigen Gattungen der Säugetiere. Anatomischer Anzeiger 131, 378–390.
- PERI, E., GINGERICH, P. D., ARINGHIERI, G. & BIANUCCI, G. (2020). Reduction of olfactory and respiratory turbinates in the transition of whales from land to sea: the semiaquatic middle Eocene Aegyptocetus tarfa. Journal of Anatomy 236, 98–104.
- *PETER, K. (1902). Die Entwickelung des Geruchsorgans und Jakobson'schen Organs in der Reihe der Wirbeltiere. Bildung der ausseren Nase und des Gaumens. In

Handbuch der vergleichenden und experimentellen Entwickelungslehre der Wirbeltiere. Herausgegeben von O. HERTWIG. Bd. II. Jena, pp. 1–82.

- PEYER, B. (1912). Die Entwickelung des Schadelskelettes von Vipera aspis. Morphologisches Jahrbuch 44, 563–622.
- PIHLSTRÖM, H. (2008). Comparative anatomy and physiology of chemical senses in aquatic mammals. In Sensory Evolution on the Threshold: Adaptations in Secondarily Aquatic Vertebrates (ed S. NUMMELA), pp. 95–109. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- PORTMANN, A. (1961). Sensory organs: skin, taste, and olfaction. In Biology and Comparative Physiology of Birds (Volume 2, ed. MARSHALL), pp. 37–48. Academic Press, New York. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5& q=Portmann%2C+A.+%281961%29.+Sensory+organs%3A+skin%2C+taste% 2C+and+olfaction.+In+Biology+and+Comparative+Physiology+of+Birds+% 28Volume+2%2C+ed.+MARSHALL%29%2C+pp.+37%E2%80%9348.+ Academic+Q17+Press%2C+New+York.&btnG=.
- PUSEY, H. K. (1943). On the head of the liopelmid frog, Ascaphus truei: I. The chrondrocranium, jaws, arches, and muscles of a party-grown larva. Journal of Cell Science s2-84, 105–185.
- RANSLOW, A. N., RICHTER, J. P., NEUBERGER, T., VAN VALKENBURGH, B., RUMPLE, C. R., QUIGLEY, A. P., PANG, B., KRANE, M. H. & CRAVEN, B. A. (2014). Reconstruction and morphometric analysis of the nasal airway of the white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) and implications regarding respiratory and olfactory airflow. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2138–2147.
- REINBACH, W. (1952a). Zur Entwicklung des Primordialcraniums von Dasypus novemcinctus Linné (Tatusia novemcincta Lesson) II. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Anthropologie 45, 1–72.
- REINBACH, W. (1952b). Zur Entwicklung des Primordialeraniums von Dasypus novemeinetus Linné (Tatusia novemeineta Lesson) I. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Anthropologie 44, 375–444.
- RESSLER, K. J., SULLIVAN, S. L. & BUCK, L. B. (1993). A zonal organization of odorant receptor gene expression in the olfactory epithelium. *Cell* 73, 597–609.
- RESSLER, K. J., SULLIVAN, S. L. & BUCK, L. B. (1994). A molecular dissection of spatial patterning in the olfactory system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* **4**, 588–596.
- ROPER, T. J. (1999). Olfaction in Birds. In Advances in the Study of Behavior (eds P. J. B. SLATER, J. S. ROSENBLAT, C. T. SNOWDEN and T. J. ROPER), pp. 247–332. Academic Press. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q= Roper%2C+T.+J.+%281999%29.+Olfaction+in+Birds.+In+Advances+in+the+ Study+of+Behavior+%28eds+P.+J.+B.+SLATER%2C+J.+S.+ROSENBLAT %2C+C.+T.+SNOWDEN+and+T.+J.+ROPER%29%2C+pp.+247%E2% 80%93332.+Academic+Press.&btnG=.
- ROPPOLO, D., RIBAUD, V., JUNGO, V. P., LÜSCHER, C. & RODRIGUEZ, I. (2006). Projection of the Grüneberg ganglion to the mouse olfactory bulb. *European Journal* of Neuroscience 23, 2887–2894.
- ROSSIE, J. B. (2006). Ontogeny and homology of the paranasal sinuses in Platyrrhini (Mammalia: primates). Journal of Morphology 267, 1–40.
- ROSSIE, J. B. & SMITH, T. D. (2007). Ontogeny of the nasolacrimal duct in primates: functional and phylogenetic implications. *Journal of Anatomy* 210, 195–208.
- *ROUX, G. H. (1947). The cranial development of certain Ethiopian "insectivores" and its bearing on the mutual affinities of the group. *Acta Zoologica* 28, 165–397.
- ROWE, T. B., EITING, T. P., MACRINI, T. E. & KETCHAM, R. A. (2005). Organization of the olfactory and respiratory skeleton in the nose of the gray short-tailed opossum *Monodelphis domestica. Journal of Mammalian Evolution* 12, 303–336.
- RUBEN, J. A., HILLENIUS, W. J., GEIST, N. R., LEITCH, A., JONES, T. D., CURRIE, P. J., HORNER, J. R. & ESPE, G. (1996). The metabolic status of some Late Cretaceous dinosaurs. *Science* 273, 1204–1207.
- RUBEN, J. A. & JONES, T. D. (2000). Selective factors associated with the origin of fur and feathers. *American Zoologist* 40, 585–596.
- RUF, I. (2014). Comparative anatomy and systematic implications of the turbinal skeleton in Lagomorpha (Mammalia). *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2031–2046.
- RUF, I. (2020). Ontogenetic transformations of the ethmoidal region in Muroidea (Rodentia, Mammalia): new insights from perinatal stages. *Vertebrate Zoology* 70, 383–415.
- RUF, I. (2022). The turbinal skeleton of *Pentalagus furnessi* (Leporidae, Lagomorpha). Vertebrate Zoology 72, 423–432.
- RUF, I., BEHRENS, H. & ZELLER, U. (2020). Ontogeny and morphofunctional implications of the ethmoidal region in the semiaquatic *Potamogale velox* (Afrotheria, Mammalia). *Vertebrate Zoology* **70**, 679–697.
- *RUF, I., JANSSEN, S. & ZELLER, U. (2015). The ethmoidal region of the skull of *Ptilocercus lowii* (Ptilocercidae, Scandentia, Mammalia) – a contribution to the reconstruction of the cranial morphotype of primates. *Primate Biology* 2, 89–110.
- RUF, I., MAIER, W., RODRIGUES, P. G. & SCHULTZ, C. L. (2014). Nasal anatomy of the non-mammaliaform cynodont *Brasilitherium riograndensis* (Eucynodontia, Therapsida) reveals new insight into mammalian evolution. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2018–2030.
- RUF, I., MENG, J. & FOSTOWICZ-FRELIK, Ł. (2021). Anatomy of the nasal and auditory regions of the fossil lagomorph *Palaeolagus haydeni*: systematic and evolutionary implications. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 9, 636110.

- SAINT GIRONS, H. (1976). Données histologiques sur les fosses nasales et leurs annexes chez Crocodylus niloticus Laurenti et Caiman crocodilus (Linnaeus) (Reptilia, Crocodylidae). Zoomorphologie 84, 301–318.
- SALAZAR, I. & SÁNCHEZ-QUINTEIRO, P. (2011). A detailed morphological study of the vomeronasal organ and the accessory olfactory bulb of cats. *Microscopy Research and Technique* 74, 1109–1120.
- *SCHLIEMANN, H. (1966). Zur Morphologie und Entwicklung des Craniums von Canis lupus f. familiaris. Gegenbaurs Morphologische Jahrbuch 109, 501–603.
- SCHMIDT, A. & WAKF, M. H. (1990). Olfactory and vomeronasal systems of caecilians (Amphibia: Gymnophiona). *Journal of Morphology* 205, 255–268.
- *SCHMIDT, U. & NADOLSKI, A. (1979). Die Verteilung von olfaktorischem und respiratorischem Epithel in der Nasenhöhle der Hausspitzmaus, *Crocidura russula* (Soricidae). Zeitschrift für Säugetierkunde 44, 18–25.
- SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K. (1969). The neglected interface: the biology of water as a liquid-gas system. Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics 2, 283–304.
- SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K. & HAINES, H. B. (1964). Water balance in a carnivorous desert rodent the grasshopper mouse. *Physiological Zoology* 37, 259–265.
- SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K., HAINSWORTH, F. R. & MURRISH, D. E. (1970). Countercurrent heat exchange in the respiratory passages: effect on water and heat balance. *Respiration Physiology* 9, 263–276.
- SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K., SCHROTER, R. C. & SHKOLNIK, A. (1981). Desaturation of exhaled air in camels. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological Sciences 211, 305–319.
- SCHROTER, R. C. & WATKINS, N. V. (1989). Respiratory heat exchange in mammals. *Respiration Physiology* 78, 357–367.
- SEYDEL, O. (1895). Über die Nasenhöhle und das Jacobson'sche Organ der Amphibien. Morphologisches Jahrbuch 23, 453–543.
- SEYMOUR, R. S., BENNETT-STAMPER, C. L., JOHNSTON, S. D., CARRIER, D. R. & GRIGG, G. C. (2004). Evidence for endothermic ancestors of crocodiles at the stem of archosaur evolution. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 77, 1051–1067.
- *SHARMA, D. R. (1958). Studies on the anatomy of the indian insectivore, Suncus murinus. Journal of Morphology 102, 427–553.
- SIGURDSEN, T. (2005). New features of the snout and orbit of a therocephalian therapsid from South Africa. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica* **51**, 63–75.
- SMITH, T. D. & BHATNAGAR, K. P. (2004). Microsmatic primates: reconsidering how and when size matters. *The Anatomical Record Part B: The New Anatomist* 279B, 24–31.
- SMITH, T. D., BHATNAGAR, K. P., ROSSIE, J. B., DOCHERTY, B. A., BURROWS, A. M., COOPER, G. M., MOONEY, M. P. & SIEGEL, M. I. (2007*a*). Scaling of the first ethmoturbinal in nocturnal strepsirrhines: olfactory and respiratory surfaces. *The Anatomical Record* **290**, 215–237.
- SMITH, T. D., BHATNAGAR, K. P., TULADHAR, P. & BURROWS, A. M. (2004). Distribution of olfactory epithelium in the primate nasal cavity: are microsmia and macrosmia valid morphological concepts? *The Anatomical Record Part A: Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular, and Evolutionary Biology* 281A, 1173–1181.
- SMITH, T. D. & BONAR, C. J. (2022). The nasal cavity in agoutis (*Dasyprocta* spp.): a micro-computed tomographic and histological study. *Vertebrate Zoology* 72, 95–113.
- SMITH, T. D., CORBIN, H. M., KING, S. E. E., BHATNAGAR, K. P. & DELEON, V. B. (2021a). A comparison of diceCT and histology for determination of nasal epithelial type. *Perfj* 9, e12261.
- SMITH, T. D., CRAVEN, B. A., ENGEL, S. M., VAN VALKENBURGH, B. & DELEON, V. B. (2021b). "Mucosal maps" of the canine nasal cavity: microcomputed tomography and histology. *The Anatomical Record* **304**, 127–138.
- SMITH, T. D., CURTIS, A., BHATNAGAR, K. P. & SANTANA, S. E. (2021c). Fissures, folds, and scrolls: the ontogenetic basis for complexity of the nasal cavity in a fruit bat (*Rousettus leschenaulti*). *The Anatomical Record* **304**, 883–900.
- SMITH, T. D. & DELEON, V. B. (2021). Evolution and development of the nasal Airways in Primates: the influence of eye size and position on Chondrogenesis and ossification of the nasal skeleton. In *Evolutionary Cell Processes in Primates*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- SMITH, T. D., DELEON, V. B., EITING, T. P., CORBIN, H. M., BHATNAGAR, K. P. & SANTANA, S. E. (2022). Venous networks in the upper airways of bats: a histological and diceCT study. *The Anatomical Record* **305**, 1871–1891.
- SMITH, T. D., EITING, T. P. & BHATNAGAR, K. P. (2012). A quantitative study of olfactory, non-olfactory, and vomeronasal epithelia in the nasal fossa of the bat Megaderma lyra. Journal of Mammalian Evolution 19, 27–41.
- *SMITH, T. D., EITING, T. P. & BHATNAGAR, K. P. (2015). Anatomy of the nasal passages in mammals. In *Handbook of Olfaction and Gustation*, pp. 37–62. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, New York.
- SMITH, T. D., EITING, T. P., BONAR, C. J. & CRAVEN, B. A. (2014). Nasal morphometry in marmosets: loss and redistribution of olfactory surface area. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2093–2104.
- SMITH, T. D., EITING, T. P. & ROSSIE, J. B. (2011). Distribution of olfactory and nonolfactory surface area in the nasal fossa of *Microebus murinus*: implications for microcomputed tomography and airflow studies. *The Anatomical Record* 294, 1217–1225.

- SMITH, T. D., MARTELL, M. C., ROSSIE, J. B., BONAR, C. J. & DELEON, V. B. (2016). Ontogeny and microanatomy of the nasal turbinals in Lemuriformes. *The Anatomical Record* 299, 1492–1510.
- SMITH, T. D. & ROSSIE, J. B. (2008). Nasal fossa of mouse and dwarf lemurs (Primates, Cheirogaleidae). *The Anatomical Record* 291, 895–915.
- SMITH, T. D., ROSSIE, J. B. & BHATNAGAR, K. P. (2007b). Evolution of the nose and nasal skeleton in primates. *Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews* 16, 132–146.
- SMITH, T. D., RUF, I. & DELEON, V. B. (2023). Ontogenetic transformation of the cartilaginous nasal capsule in mammals, a review with new observations on bats. *The Anatomical Record*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.25152S.
- *SÖLLNER, B. & KRAFT, R. (1980). Anatomie und Histologie der Nasenhöhle der Europäischen Wasserspitzmaus, *Neomys fodiens* (Pennant 1771), und anderer mitteleuropäischer Soriciden (Insectivora, Mammalia). *Spixiana* 3, 251–272.
- SPATZ, W. (1964). Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Ontogenese des Cranium von Tupaia glis (DIARD 1820). Gegenbaurs Morphologische Jahrbuch 106, 321–416.
- STARCK, D. (1960). Das Cranium eines Schimpansenfetus (Pan troglodytes, BLUMENBACH 1799) von 71 mm Scheitel-Steiß-Laenge, nebst Bemerkungen über die Körperform von Schimpansenfeten. Morphologische Jahrbuch 100, 559–647.
- *STARCK, D. (1967). Le crane des Mammiferes. In Traite de Zoologie, Tome XVI: Mammiferes Teguments et Squelette, pp. 405–549. L'Academie Saint-German de Medecine, Paris.
- STEBBINS, R. C. (1948). Nasal structure in lizards with reference to olfaction and conditioning of the inspired air. American Journal of Anatomy 83, 183–221.
- STEPHENSON, N. G. (1951). On the development of the chondrocranium and visceral arches of Leiopelma archeyi. The Transactions of the Zoological Society of London 27, 203–253.
- STORAN, M. J. & KEY, B. (2006). Septal organ of Grüneberg is part of the olfactory system. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **494**, 834–844.
- STROMER, D. E. (1903). Zeuglodon-Reste aus dem oberen Mitteleocan des Fajum. Beiträge Palaontol Geol Osterreich-Ungarns Orients 15, 65–100.
- TSAI, C.-H. & FORDYCE, R. E. (2018). A new archaic baleen whale *Toipahautea waitaki* (early Late Oligocene, New Zealand) and the origins of crown Mysticeti. *Royal Society Open Science* 5, 172453.
- UHEN, M. D. (2004). Form, function, and anatomy of *Dorudon atrox* (Mammalia, Cetacea): an archaeocete from the Middle to Late Eocene of Egypt. *Papers on Paleontology* 34, 1–238.
- VAN VALKENBURGH, B., CURTIS, A., SAMUELS, J. X., BIRD, D., FULKERSON, B., MEACHEN-SAMUELS, J. & SLATER, G. J. (2011). Aquatic adaptations in the nose of carnivorans: evidence from the turbinates. *Journal of Anatomy* 218, 298–310.
- VAN VALKENBURGH, B., PANG, B., BIRD, D., CURTIS, A., YEE, K., WYSOCKI, C. & CRAVEN, B. A. (2014). Respiratory and olfactory turbinals in feliform and caniform carnivorans: the influence of snout length. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 2065–2079.
- VAN VALKENBURGH, B., SMITH, T. D. & CRAVEN, B. A. (2014). Tour of a labyrinth: exploring the vertebrate nose. *The Anatomical Record* 297, 1975–1984.
- VAN VALKENBURGH, B., THEODOR, J., FRISCIA, A., POLLACK, A. & ROWE, T. (2004). Respiratory turbinates of canids and felids: a quantitative comparison. *Journal of Zoology* **264**, 281–293.
- VOIT, M. (1909). Das Primordialcranium des Kaninchens: Unter Berücksichtigung der Deckknochen. Beiträge und Referate zur Anatomie und Entwickelungsgeschichte 38, 425–616.
- VOSS, R. S. & JANSA, S. A. (2003). Phylogenetic studies on didelphid marsupials. 2, Nonmolecular data and new IRBP sequences: separate and combined analyses of didelphine relationships with denser taxon sampling. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* 263, 1–236.
- *WAGNER, F. (2019). Evolutionary transformations of the ethmoidal region *in Canis lupus familiaris* (Linné, 1758): effects of domestication on the turbinal skeleton in selected dog breeds. Dissertation: Universität Frankfurt, 1–300.
- WAGNER, F. & RUF, I. (2019). Who nose the borzoi? Turbinal skeleton in a dolichocephalic dog breed (*Canis lupus familiaris*). *Manunalian Biology* 94, 106–119.
- WAGNER, F. & RUF, I. (2021). "Forever young"—postnatal growth inhibition of the turbinal skeleton in brachycephalic dog breeds (*Canis lupus familiaris*). The Anatomical Record 304, 154–189.
- WALKER, J. E. C. & WELLS, R. E. (1961). Heat and water exchange in the respiratory tract. *The American Journal of Medicine* **30**, 259–267.
- WATSON, D. M. S. (1913). XXV.—Further notes on the skull, brain, and organs of special sense of *Diademodon*. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 12, 217–228.

- WELDON, P. J., SWENSON, D. J., OLSON, J. K. & BRINKMEIER, W. G. (1990). The American alligator detects food chemicals in aquatic and terrestrial environments. *Ethology* 85, 191–198.
- WENZEL, B. M. (1971). Olfactory sensation in the kiwi and other birds. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 188, 183–192.
- *WIBLE, J. R. (2008). On the cranial osteology of the Hispaniolan solenodon, Solenodon paradoxus Brandt, 1833 (Mammalia, Lipotyphla, Solenodontidae). Annals of Carnegie Museum 77, 321–402.
- WITHERS, P. C. & JARVIS, J. U. M. (1980). The effect of huddling on thermoregulation and oxygen consumption for the naked mole-rat. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology* 66, 215–219.
- WITMER, L. M. (1995). Homology of facial structures in extant archosaurs (birds and crocodilians), with special reference to paranasal pneumaticity and nasal conchae. *Journal of Morphology* 225, 269–327.
- WITMER, L. M. (1997). The evolution of the antorbital cavity of archosaurs: a study in soft-tissue reconstruction in the fossil record with an analysis of the function of pneumaticity. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 17, 1–76.
- *WOEHRMANN-REPENNING, A. & MEINEL, W. (1977). A comparative study on the nasal fossae of *Tupaia glis* and four insectivores. *Anatomischer Anzeiger* 142, 331–345.
- YEE, K. K., CRAVEN, B. A., WYSOCKI, C. J. & VAN VALKENBURGH, B. (2016). Comparative morphology and histology of the nasal fossa in four mammals: gray squirrel, bobcat, coyote, and white-tailed deer. *The Anatomical Record* **299**, 840–852.
- YOHE, L. R., FABBRI, L. D., DAVIES, K. T. J., YOHE, T. P., SÁNCHEZ, M. K. R., RENGIFO, E. M., HALL, R., MUTUMI, G., HEDRICK, B. P., SADIER, A., SIMMONS, N. B., SEARS, K. E., ELIZABETH, D., ROSSITER, S. J., *ET AL.* (2022). Ecological constraints on highly evolvable olfactory receptor genes and morphology in neotropical bats. *Evolution* 76, 2347–2360.
- YOHE, L. R., HOFFMANN, S. & CURTIS, A. (2018). Vomeronasal and olfactory structures in bats revealed by DiceCT clarify genetic evidence of function. *Frontiers* in *Neuroanatomy* 12, 32.
- YOUNG, J. M., SHYKIND, B. M., LANE, R. P., TONNES-PRIDDY, L., ROSS, J. A., WALKER, M., WILLIAMS, E. M. & TRASK, B. J. (2003). Odorant receptor expressed sequence tags demonstrate olfactory expression of over 400 genes, extensive alternate splicing and unequal expression levels. *Genome Biology* 4, 71.
- *YOUSSEF, E. H. (1971). The chondrocranium of *Hemiechinus auritus aegyptius* and its comparison with *Erinaceus europaeus*. *Cells, Tissues, Organs* 78, 224–254.
- ZAHER, M. M. & ABU-TAIRA, A. M. (2013). A review on the avian chondrocranium. The Journal of Basic & Applied Zoology 66, 109–120.
- ZELLER, U. (1987). Morphogenesis of the mammalian skull with special reference to Tupaia. *Mammalia depicta* **13**, 17–50.
- *ZELLER, U. (1989). Die Entwicklung und Morphologie des Schädels von Ornithorhynchus anatinus (Mammalia: Prototheria: Monotremata). Abhandlungen der Senekenbergischen Naturforschenden Gesellschaft 545, 1–188.
- ZWICKER, D., OSTILLA-MÓNICO, R., LIEBERMAN, D. E. & BRENNER, M. P. (2018). Physical and geometric constraints shape the labyrinth-like nasal cavity. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 115, 2936–2941.

XIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Fig. S1. Alternative interpretations of the turbinal homology of the platypus [*Ornithorhynchus anatinus*, Museum of Vertebrate Zoology (MVZ) 32885] shown in Fig. 16.

Table S1. Synonyms and correspondences of mammalian turbinals terminologies between this review and other studies as well as among other studies.

Table S2. Synonyms and correspondences of turbinals terminologies between this review and other studies as well as between the other studies themselves; see legend to Table S1 for abbreviations; (Wit) = Witmer (1995).

(Received 25 May 2023; revised 3 July 2024; accepted 10 July 2024)